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Paint for the Planet is an exhibition and auction of
children's art to launch the global United Nations
campaign ‘UNite to Combat international climate
change’.

The paintings on international climate change
featured in this annual report are amongst the
winners of this year’s competition which were
chosen from a collection of nearly 200,000 entries
from UNEP's International Children's Painting
Competition, which has been held every year for
the last 17 years.

All proceeds will go to an Emergency Response
Fund for children in countries adversely affected
by international climate change.

This unique collection gives
insight into children's vision,
fears and hopes for their future,
and it provides a valuable
chronicle of the environment as
seen through the eyes of
children. 

Selected paintings will feature in a global
exhibition, which opened at UN Headquarters in
New York. After staying at UN Headquarters for
one month, the exhibition travels to various
climate-related events and meetings around the
world, culminating at the international climate
change negotiations in Copenhagen in 2009.
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TEP’s Global Activity



Coal mine methane:
CER purchase in
China
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Chairman’s Report

The Company was formed with the objective of
giving investors long term exposure to the carbon
price, both through capturing the arbitrage the
Board anticipated between the primary and
secondary markets for carbon credits and on the
basis of a long term upward pricing view.  It was
the Board’s belief that a strong first mover
advantage existed for those willing to take, and
able to manage risks in the primary market
through the development of an extensive
origination network and robust risk management
process.  A strong cash position is fundamentally
important to execute this business model. The
Company has executed on the above strategies
and I would like to highlight the following points:

1. The Company has aggregated a mature
portfolio of quality carbon credits and related
investments, acquired at appropriate prices.
As such, the Company has crystalised its
financial exposure to a market exit price
which is now comfortably in excess of our
original acquisition cost and the portfolio has
the potential to achieve significant investment
returns.

2. The Company’s cash position is strong,
equivalent to approximately 50p per share at
30 June 2008.  This truly sets the Company
apart during a time of global financial
liquidity problems that have impacted
specialist carbon companies, alternative
energy companies as well as the wider
financial sector. 

3. The Board expects the implementation of the
CITL - ITL connection to significantly improve
the liquidity of the portfolio.  The ITL
(International Transaction Log) is the
electronic registry system that allows the
transfer of Certified Emission Reductions
(CERs) between the first buyer of the CER and
subsequent traders.  We have already seen

improving liquidity at healthy pricing but this
new development will further enhance the
underlying value of the portfolio.

4. We believe there is every indication that the
forthcoming presidential election will bring
the United States into the international offset
community, creating a demand considerably
in excess of the existing market place.  Today
the principal purchasers of CERs are the EU
and Japan and the current pricing for the
Company’s carbon credits is based on the
price of European Union Emissions Trading
Scheme credits.  The U.S. system is likely to be
treble the scope of the EU and is also likely to
embrace the use of international offset credits
for compliance.

5. Beyond 2012, we are confident that both the
European and U.S. systems will embrace the
use of offset credits.  This is a key
development that further enhances the value
of our portfolio as a substantial number of our
transactions give the Company rights to CERs
on a long term basis.

6. The existing market has transacted
exceptional volumes both over the counter
and also through the world’s largest carbon
exchange, the European Climate Exchange
(ECX), where the Company has already
traded in significant volume.  

These points are dealt with in more detail in the
following paragraphs.

I am pleased to announce a very positive result for
the Company this year, exceeding our targets.
Using the same risk adjustment and valuation
methodology as we described last year, for which
the portfolio and price metrics appear in Tables 1
and 2 overleaf (as at 30 June 2008), our Net Asset
Value (NAV) per share was 226.69p.  

Results for the year ended 30 June 2008

It gives me great pleasure to report our results for the year to 30 June 2008.  The
Company has demonstrated strong progress over the last twelve months.  There are
several important factors that lead me to believe that the Company will deliver
excellent shareholder returns.  



Over the past twelve months, the maturity of the
Company’s CER portfolio has increased
significantly.  46% of the risk adjusted portfolio is
registered, and a further 24% is in validation or the
registration process.  China remains the dominant
region for our CER purchase portfolio, however
from a cash-invested perspective, the Company’s
geographic diversification is well balanced,
including some exciting investments in the North
American carbon and emission credit markets.    

The two essential pillars of the Company’s risk
management have been the strict purchase of
CERs at appropriate prices and conservative
management of the portfolio, including expert
management through the CDM process and
aggressive risk adjustment of all undelivered
volumes.  As a result of this strategy,
commercialisation of the portfolio is expected to
meet our shareholder’s return expectations at
secondary carbon prices well below current levels
and the portfolio has experienced very limited
deterioration in published figures to date.

The Adviser originated a significant portfolio of
ERPA based deals, and we made no forward sales
until reaching a high degree of certainty about
deliverability and market liquidity.  Over time, the
Company has diversified into other business areas
and structures that give shareholders a continued
and varied exposure to the carbon market as it
develops. 

These advantages are enhanced by the Company’s
excellent cash position; the Company continues to
be a highly attractive counterparty to CER sellers,
and I firmly believe we are one of the only
companies outside the banking sector with the
free cash capacity to trade via exchange without
support, and meet collateral requirements
independently.  

The most significant development to report this
year has been the Company’s entry into the
secondary markets – and our commencement to
unwind the Company’s long CER position. We
have made this move as a result of the massive
improvement in liquidity, and the ability now to
dispose of a one million CER position in minutes,
anonymously, on exchange. The Board expects
continued improvement in liquidity and breadth
of the market following CITL-ITL connection,
which is expected on 16 October 2008.

The CITL-ITL connection is a significant turning
point for the Company.  A connection will finally
be made between the ‘depot’ registry of the
UNFCCC where newly generated CERs are
deposited (pending transfer), and the registries of
EU Member States.  The connection will enable
physical settlement through delivery of CERs to
the end buyer of the Company’s spot and forward
sale contracts, and will enable the Company to
realise revenue.  We expect the connection will
enhance liquidity further and continue the trend
that we have always expected of a tightening
spread between CERs and EUAs. 

At year end, the Company had agreed forward
CER sale contracts that will generate over €85m in
revenue through to December 2012 (a figure that
had risen to €151.5m as at the date of this report).
€32.3m of this amount is expected before the end
of 2008.  Significantly, less than 20% of the
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Chairman’s Report (continued)

Table 1: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for valuation –
30 June 2008

No. of 
Carbon Credits 

Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category C –
Contracted

Of which
delivered

47,035,000

1,924,000

8,913,000

-

55,948,000

1,924,000

Table 2: Valuation reference prices

December
Contract Year

ECX CER Futures Contracts
Settlement price at 30 June 08 (€)

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

Post-2012

* Based on OTC reference price

20.86

21.47

21.80

22.35

23.00

7.00*
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Company’s 2008 CER portfolio has been forward
sold, and we expect therefore to sell a significant
volume of CERs during the period following the
CITL-ITL connection to the end of April 2009,
generating further revenues this coming financial
year. The weighted average price of the
Company’s commercialisation to date is €21.18 /
CER.  This represents a margin of more than 100%
on units sold to date. 

The Company’s post-2012 contracted, risk
adjusted, year end portfolio stood at 8.9m CERs.
For the first time, the Company’s valuation this
year incorporates a positive market value of €7.00
/ CER for the portfolio post 2012. Previously these
assets had been valued at zero. The basis for
valuation was the view that there is now a market
for such CERs at this price, based on peer review
and market activity, in particular, specialist funds
that have been established such as the European
Post-2012 Carbon Fund.  

The Board is aware of the disparity between the
Company’s NAV of 226.69p and the current share
price.  The Company will shortly be in a position
to realise significant gains in cash based upon
profit from CER sales during the coming year and
the Board then intends to make a distribution to
shareholders.  This will commence as soon as
possible and could be achieved in a number of ways:

1. A sustainable annual dividend 
2. Share re-purchase
3. Special dividends

A sustainable annual dividend is intended to give
investors a material yield that increases over time
during the life of the Company, subject to an exit
price for carbon credits, which continues to meet
our expectations.  We anticipate that this dividend
would more than justify the risk perceived with
holding an investment of this type.  

Share re-purchase and special dividends would be
part of an ongoing strategy to return capital to
shareholders depending on the prevailing share
price and market conditions at that time.

The world financial and banking crisis has had a
significant impact on the Company as evidenced
in the gap between our share price and our NAV.
The Company is uniquely positioned to take
advantage of this situation, remaining a strong 

counterparty and market participant in a world
where others will be undermined, thus creating an
opportunity for investors.  The business has strong
cash resources and potential for strong cash flows
and we believe the Company is an attractive
investment during times of extreme distress in
most sectors.  There appears to be an
undiminished appetite to address the issue of
climate change as borne out by political
momentum, current trading volumes and price in
the carbon market.  We will therefore strike a
balance between business opportunities that arise,
including both CER origination, investments and
corporate acquisition opportunities, and the
Board’s desire to return capital to our investors.  

The Investment Adviser, EEA Fund Management
Ltd (“EEA”) has done a magnificent job.  Under
the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement
between EEA and the Company, EEA is entitled to
a £40.487m performance fee payable in cash for the
year ended June 2008. EEA and the Company have
agreed on revised payment terms for the 2008 fee
under which EEA will receive the fee in five
instalments. The first instalment of £8.097m shall
be payable in cash on 16 October 2008, and 50% of
this amount will be used by EEA to purchase the
Company’s shares in the market. In September
each year thereafter from 2009 to 2012, EEA will
receive £4.049m in cash and be issued with
£4.049m of the Company’s shares at 175p per
share.  Shares issued to EEA under this
arrangement will be subject to a 12 month lock-up
from the date of issue. 

In conclusion, the Company has had a
wonderfully positive year and we look forward to
further realisation within the portfolio to the
benefit of shareholders.  

Neil Eckert
15 October 2008

Trading Emissions PLC | Report & Accounts
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In its third full year of operation, the Company has continued to demonstrate that its
investment strategy and financial structure are well suited to take advantage of the
conditions in the global carbon markets. 

Investment Adviser’s Report

The Company raised £135m in April 2005 and a
further £175m in May 2006 creating two share
classes which were merged during the year based
on their respective value at 30 June 2007.  The
Company’s goal is to acquire a portfolio of carbon
credits at appropriate prices, and to make other
investments to, directly or indirectly, give
shareholders diversified exposure to the price of
carbon credits. 

The Company engages as a buyer in the primary,
and as a seller in the secondary Certified Emission
Reduction (CER) markets with a view to capturing
the arbitrage between the two markets and any
long term strengthening in the CER price.  The
primary market relates to the purchase of CERs
directly from projects in emerging markets, where
the CER is still subject to delivery and registration
risk.  Such risk is reflected in the price; the
Company’s typical cost of a CER originated in the
primary markets ranges from €6 to €9.  The
Company had built a risk adjusted portfolio of
58.75m CERs by financial year end, 30 June 2008. 

The secondary market relates to the trading (or in
the Company’s case, the sale) of CERs on a
guaranteed basis, either through exchange or
over-the-counter.  During the last six months the
Company has begun to commercialise its portfolio
of CERs and to date, has achieved a weighted
average price of €21.18 / CER. Credit and free
cash remain a significant determinant of a market
participant’s ability to access the secondary
market, and as such the Company is in a strong
position.  Both in the case of primary and
secondary transactions, the Adviser has aimed to
minimise transaction costs and fees to
intermediaries and third parties.

During this year, the Company has continued to
originate opportunities in the primary market,
broadly falling into three types of transaction:

Emission Reduction Purchase Agreements
(ERPAs) in which the Company enters into a
contract for the forward purchase of primary
CERs with payment on delivery. 

Structured debt and equity transactions where
secured debt finance or equity is made available to
companies developing or operating Clean
Development Mechanism (CDM) projects,
enabling the Company to acquire CERs directly
from the project as either lender to or owner of the
project. 

Strategic investments in companies or facilities
that will by their nature be exposed to carbon
price, and through which the Company can gain
indirect exposure to the price of both carbon or a
broader class of environmental credits. 

The Company’s balance sheet has given it a strong
advantage both in the primary and secondary
markets.  In the primary markets, the Company is
able to demonstrate strong credit to potential
counterparties including primary CER sellers, and
recipients of equity and debt.  In the secondary
market, a strong balance sheet gives the Company
flexibility to make guaranteed forward sales and
margin / collateral obligations, enabling it to
commercialise the carbon credits at the highest
available price. 

1 Risk Adjusted Portfolio 

Here we present the Company’s risk adjusted
portfolio, in two categories – ‘Category B’ (Heads
of terms – in exclusive negotiations) and ‘Category
C’ (contracted).  Our previously cited ‘Category A’
(negotiating terms) is no longer included as part of
the risk adjusted figure because the portfolio has
matured substantially, and we believe that
inclusion of early stage pipeline figures does not
inform delivery projections.  Figures are presented
at year end, and on the date of this report.

Report for the year ended 30 June 2008

Trading Emissions PLC | Report & Accounts
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Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)

We quote the portfolio in aggregate, for two
periods; firstly, CERs for receipt prior to 30 April
2013 (Pre-2012), and secondly, for receipt after this
date (Post-2012).  A number of the Company’s firm
purchase contracts and investments are expected
to deliver CERs beyond the end of the Kyoto
commitment period and Phase II of the EU
Emissions Trading Scheme, both of whose
monitoring timetables complete on 31 December
2012.  All annual receipts are defined as volumes
received by 30 April the following year, because
this matches the compliance reconciliation cycle of
the EU ETS (for example CERs generated in 2008
will go into verification at the end of the year, with
CER receipt by 30 April 2009).  

The year end (30 June 2008) positions are
summarised below:

The increase in Category C reflects the
improvement in the portfolio’s maturity during
the year, despite the overall reduction in the
pipeline of earlier stage projects.  

As of the date of publication, the Company had
further advanced portfolio volumes by 6.2m CERs
in Category C and now holds 3.95m CERs, which
are either pending delivery to the UK from the
Company’s Temporary Holding Account in the

CDM registry, have been issued to a trustee, or
have already reached the Company’s Swiss
Registry account.  We anticipate that the Company
will exceed its previously published target to
receive 5m CERs by 30 April 2009. 

Table 1: Risk adjusted CER portfolio and pipeline by
category – 30 June 2008 

No. of 
Carbon Credits 

Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category B –
Heads of terms

Category C –
Contracted

Total

Of which
delivered

2,805,000

47,035,000

49,840,000

1,924,000

-

8,913,000

8,913,000

-

2,805,000

55,948,000

58,753,000

1,924,000

Table 2: Comparison with 30 June 2007 
(2008-2012 figures only) 

Table 2: Variance analysis comparing the 30 June
2008 per 2012 portfolio with the reported portfolio at
year end 30 June 2007

No. of 
Carbon Credits 

30 June
2007

30 June
2008

Comparison

Category B –
Heads of terms

Category C –
Contracted

Total 2008-2012

Of which
delivered

18,249,000

42,719,000

60,968,000

640,000

2,805,000

47,035,000

49,840,000

1,924,000

(15,444,000)

4,316,000

(11,128,000)

1,284,000

Table 3: Risk adjusted CER portfolio and pipeline on
the date of publication 

Table 3: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for categories
B, C and deliverable volumes pre and post 2012, on
the date of publication

No. of 
Carbon Credits 

Pre-2012 Post-2012 Total

Category B –
Heads of terms

Category C –
Contracted

Total 

Of which
delivered

2,443,000

50,866,000

53,309,000

3,950,000

-

11,284,000

11,284,000

-

2,443,000

62,150,000

64,593,000

3,950,000

Table 1: Risk adjusted CER portfolio for categories
B, C and deliverable volumes pre and post 2012, 
as at 30 June 2008
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We continued to apply a systematic risk
adjustment process to the portfolio using factors
determined through publicly available data and
internal professional judgement.  The factors have
been adjusted slightly to reflect the evolving
market conditions.  As previously reported,
factors are determined to reflect i) CER delivery
success from different technologies; ii) the CDM
development status of each project; and iii) project
development / financing status of each project;
the risk adjustment process requires that these
categories are assumed to be mutually exclusive in
their impact on the probability of delivery. 

2 China 

The Adviser has continued to originate new ERPA
and investment opportunities for the Company in
China throughout the year, but at a slower rate
than in the past.  We reported last year that our
focus had switched from pipeline expansion to
securing the execution of final agreements; this
year our focus has shifted to maturing the
Company’s pipeline of projects through the CDM
process, and to this end we have had some
success.  Despite the fact that like every market
participant, the Company’s portfolio has been
affected by institutional delays, the Chinese
portfolio is still on track to deliver and exceed the
Company’s previously published target of 5m
CERs by April 2009. 

Delays have been caused on two fronts: a lack of
capacity within the Designated Operational
Entities (DOEs) that complete validation and
verifications, particularly in their Chinese teams;
exacerbated by delays within the UNFCCC where,
on a number of occasions, changes to the rules
resulted in projects needing to repeat the
validation process against a revised methodology.

In addition, even following a positive validation
by the DOE, the UN Secretariat and the CDM
Executive Board has exercised increasing scrutiny
over projects, with a significant increase in the
number of projects that are called for review. To
date, every project submitted for registration by

the Company, for which reviews have been
requested has ultimately been registered, or
registered subject to corrections. Despite this
positive outcome, the review process causes
significant delays because projects cannot
generate CERs until after registration, causing
financial loss to the Company and its
counterparties who expected payment for CERs.  

We are conscious of the importance of managing
the Company’s relationship with DOEs to secure a
better quality and more timely service.  The DOEs
are increasingly aware of the problems caused by
taking on too much work, and most now only
accept validations for which they have the
resource.  They have also increased capacity across
the board.  At the UNFCCC level there is less
scope for risk management; we ensure that all
requests from the Executive Board are dealt with
rigorously and promptly.  

There is also limited capacity, and on occasion,
capability amongst CDM consultants operating in
China.  The Adviser has therefore built a team of
experienced consultants to prepare project
documentation for the projects in the Company’s
pipeline.  This team in Beijing ensures the
Company benefits from a focussed and timely
service on the critical area of project
documentation and registration. 

Since July 2007 the Company has submitted 17
projects for registration with the UNFCCC.  Of
these, four have been registered, five have been
registered subject to corrections of the PDD, four
are under review and the remainder are either
awaiting completeness check (which currently
takes up to three months) or are published
awaiting registration.  We are confident that those
being reviewed will gain approval during the
October Executive Board meeting with
registration by December 2008. 

The Company received negative validation
opinions for three projects in its pipeline.  In at
least two instances the Company will be appealing
these decisions through the DOE’s internal
procedure.  The volume of CERs from each of



these projects in the Company’s pipeline figures
above has been reduced to zero following the
receipt of the validation opinions.

In addition to the portfolio of ERPA investments in
China we continue to work on a handful of equity
investments.  Details of the registration status of
substantial projects or technology types under
ERPA follow.

2.1 Natural Gas Projects

During the year three natural gas projects were
registered under the CDM.  A fourth project was
also submitted for registration and is currently
pending approval. The registered projects are in
Zhejiang province and all are now operating.  As a
result of the time taken to reach registration and
delays in commissioning, the expected
contribution of these projects to the Company’s
pipeline in 2008 has been adjusted conservatively,
but this will be revised by the end of 2008 when
initial verifications for the projects are undertaken. 

2.2 Waste heat recovery from industrial processes

Ten waste heat recovery projects were submitted
for registration in March 2008.  One project was
successfully registered but the other nine were
subject to review.  The first five projects to be
reviewed were determined to be Registered
Subject to Corrections at the September EB
meeting.  This means that provided the PDDs are
corrected, the projects will be registered.  The
remaining four projects will be considered at the
October EB meeting.

2.3 Coal Mine Methane 

During the year the Company entered into new
ERPA contracts with a number of coal mine
methane projects, adding to several already in the
portfolio.  The first two of these were submitted
for registration in July 2008, and a further four are
currently undergoing validation.  These projects
could represent a significant source of CERs to the

Company, pending successful registration; currently
their volumes are heavily risk adjusted, reflecting
their early stage through the registration process. 

2.4 Hydro

During the year the Company entered into a
number of new ERPA contracts with both large
and small scale hydro projects.  In order to use
CERs from large hydro projects (>20MW installed
capacity) in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme
(which requires a Letter of Approval (LoA) from
an EU Member State), it is necessary for the Buyer
to demonstrate that the project meets the World
Commission on Dams sustainable development
criteria.  The Company typically seeks LoAs from
the UK government but, until recently, the UK
government had not issued any approvals for
such projects.  The first approval granted by the
UK was for the Company’s Yuquan He project
located in Hubei province.  To secure approval it
was necessary to retain an environmental
consultant to complete an analysis of the project.
This enabled the project owner to identify and
rectify certain issues and has resulted in the
implementation of a robust environmental and
social impact monitoring system, for example
providing preferential employment to those
stakeholders most directly affected by the project.

The Company’s first registered small hydro
project in Gansu province has been performing in
line with expectations.  A verification has been
undertaken which we expect to be completed in
November. 

2.5 Wind

The Company has purchased CERs from three
wind projects in China which are now registered
and operating.  The projects have performed well
and are in line with expectations.  However, early
assumptions in the PDDs regarding the timing of
capacity expansion at the projects in 2007 and 2008
were too optimistic.  The new capacity has now
been added so the CER shortfalls this year, evident
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Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)
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from a comparison between issued volume and
the PDDs, are thus a one off event. 

2.6 Umbrella Carbon Facility

The two World Bank UCF HFC-23 destruction
projects are performing as expected and
delivering CERs on a regular basis.  On the date of
publication, the Company had received 2.12m,
with a further 524,000 issued and pending
delivery. 

2.7 Biomass

The first biomass project within TEP’s portfolio,
registered in March 2007, has been operating this
year and is now undergoing verification.  Due to
severe weather in February and March 2008
feedstock supply to the plant was restricted and
volumes are expected to be significantly lower
than the original PDD estimates.

Looking forward, as projects are registered we will
focus our efforts on the monitoring and
verification requirements. To this end our Beijing
team will be conducting site visits to projects
within the Company’s portfolio to ensure
monitoring is being performed accurately and in
line with the CDM requirements for the projects.

2.8 Investments

During the recent months we have also been
examining two potential investments.  Both look
likely to provide attractive returns but have been
delayed by legal issues and restrictive Chinese
fiscal policy, limiting access to debt for small
project developers.  Nevertheless, both
investments are expected to be completed by the
end of the year and further details will be
provided then.

Cindy Liu (10) USA
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Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)

3 South East Asia

The Company owns a large portfolio of biogas
projects in the region, having made an investment
in a project development business (Asia Biogas
Company Limited) and established a draw down
facility to finance a pipeline of projects.  With the
exception of the Philippines, the issuance of Host
Nation Approvals (host LoA) remains the most
significant hurdle to CDM project development in
South East Asia.  This is as a result of weak
institutional capacity, although conditions are
improving as experience is gained.   

The Company is also pursing a number of equity
investment opportunities in the renewable energy
sector, which are at initial due diligence stage. 

3.1 Asia Biogas Company Limited – South East
Asia

Asia Biogas Company Limited continues to
develop a pipeline of in excess of 40 projects, 25 of
which are being commissioned or are operational.
The majority are small scale biogas recovery
projects with associated installed energy capacity
of 100-200kW per project and an average
investment cost of $250,000.  The total investment
is £15m with total installed capacity of 8MW.  The
most substantial projects in the portfolio include:

Hacienda Bio-Energy: a bundle of over thirty pig
waste to energy projects, which are all either
operating or in construction.  Eight of these
projects have been submitted for registration,
fifteen are in validation, and the remainder at PDD
stage. 

Magallanes Bio-Energy: a municipal sewage waste
to energy project (300kW installed) hosted by
Makati South sewage works.  The project was
registered as a CDM project in June 2008 and
commissioning is expected in November 2008.
The project is the first of its kind in the Philippines. 

Kalasin Waste to Energy Company: an operating
starch waste water to energy project (1MW
installed) in Thailand.  The project is in validation
and awaiting host nation approval.  The Company

owns 75% of the business, Asia Biogas Company
owns the remaining 25%. 

3.2 Korat Waste to Energy (KWTE) – Thailand

The Company completed the acquisition of a
substantial cassava starch waste-water to energy
business in August 2007, Korat Waste to Energy
project (KWTE).  The project enables the host
facility to be entirely self-sufficient in heat and
power requirements; biogas now replaces fuel oil
used to dry wet cassava starch, and is used to
generate electricity (3MW installed).  Excess
energy is sold to the grid. The project was
registered as a CDM project in June 2007.  The first
issuance of 700,000 prompt start CERs for the
period up to the registration date, was approved
in September 2008 and is pending delivery to the
Company’s account.  The project is expected to
generate 300,000 CERs per year, and will shortly
be submitted for Verification for the period
covering the previous 16 months’ operation. 

4 Latin America 

Many of the most promising CDM project
opportunities under development in South
America are either self-financed and developed as
unilateral CDM projects by the project host, or are
seeking debt, equity or development capital.  Thus
the Company’s ability to invest and provide
finance linked to carbon has been an important
part of the Company’s regional strategy for CER
acquisition.  The Company has a strong pipeline of
renewable energy and agricultural waste
management opportunities in the region, and is
also looking to opportunities in programmatic
CDM (which involves the streamlining of many
small projects through the CDM process as part of
a programme) and the forestry sector.  The
Adviser opened an office in Rio de Janeiro in
January 2008.

4.1 Bionasa – Brazil

The Company signed agreements in July 2007 to
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invest $67m for a 25% stake in a greenfield
biodiesel project in the state of Goias.  The project
will produce 200,000 tonnes of biodiesel per year
and is expected to be commissioned and operating
by December 2008.  The project will utilise tallow
from slaughterhouses for 50% of its feedstock
demand in the first three years, with the
remainder coming from sunflower and soy.  The
project company intends to be independent in
feedstock supply from this point onwards, so has
initiated the establishment of a jatropha plantation
on cattle grazing land.  The market conditions in
Brazil remain extremely positive for biodiesel
projects such as Bionasa, as a result of a shortfall in
supply compared with the Brazilian government’s
volume targets and strict quality standards for the
sector which Bionasa’s product comfortably
exceeds. 

4.2 Santa Rita – Peru

The Company continues to finance the
development of a 250MW run of river hydro
project, and is making steady progress in all
aspects.  Electricidad Andina (the project
development company) is in final negotiations
with preferred civil and electromechanical EPC
(engineering, procurement and construction)
contractors; the majority of permits and licences
have been completed; and revenue assumptions
are being revisited following higher than
previously anticipated growth in demand in the
Peruvian power market.  The Peruvian economy
continues to show strong growth largely as a
result of the metals and mining sectors, however
current installed capacity is far from adequate to
meet projections for energy demand.  Less

Sergei Soiko (12) Belarus
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Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)

positively, commodity prices have led to
significant increases in the cost of materials,
raising the expected total project cost.

4.3 Escalona small hydro – Mexico

In October 2007, the Company provided a loan for
working capital purposes to a small hydro project
in Mexico under development with Energia
Escalona, a local project development business.  A
secured loan amount of US$500,000 was made
available and will be repaid in CERs produced by
the project during the period 2010-2012.  The
project is a 10MW run of river hydro project that
has completed EPC contracts, and closed its equity
funding with LEAF Clean Energy Company, a
company for which the Investment Adviser also
acts.  The project is expected to go into
construction in November 2008 and will take two

years to build.  The Company will receive 40,000
CERs per year which in the first instance will be
delivered in service of the debt and interest; once
the debt has been repaid in full all remaining CERs
will be purchased under ERPA.  

4.4 Econergy International Corporation –
Regional

Econergy is a US-based clean energy investment,
management and consulting business, focused
principally on Latin America.  The Company
provided a $4m loan to Econergy in 2005, to be
repaid in CERs through to 2012.  Econergy has
successfully delivered its third tranche of CERs to
the Company in fulfilment of these obligations. 

In May 2008, the Company’s board announced
that it had reached an agreement with the

Ekaterina Anterova (11) Russia
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independent directors of Econergy on the terms of
a recommended share exchange offer for the entire
issued and to be issued share capital of Econergy.
In connection with the offer, the Company
provided an affiliate of Econergy with a secured
loan in the amount of US$20m (the “TEP Offer
Loan”).

Suez Energy South America Participacoes Ltda
(SESA) announced a cash counter offer for
Econergy in June 2008 at a significant premium.
The Company decided not to increase its offer.
The SESA offer resulted in Econergy repaying 
the TEP Offer Loan in full, with interest, in 
August 2008.  

5 North America

Investments in the US reflect the Company’s
enthusiasm for the increasing activity in the
renewable energy and environmental markets in
North America.  The Company holds the view that
these markets will continue to expand, and that an
economy-wide cap and trade scheme will be
enacted following a change of administration,
leading to new opportunities which the Company
will be well positioned to take advantage of. 

5.1 Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC) -
USA

ECC is a leading aggregator of carbon and
environmental credits from projects in the US,
operating in agriculture, solid and liquid waste,
renewable energy and other emerging
technologies.  ECC develops Verified Emission
Reduction (VER) projects as principal, provides
VER project development advice, and project
registration and brokerage services.  The
Company made an initial investment in ECC in
October 2005, taking a 40% stake in the business,
in preferred stock. In July 2007 the Company
completed the acquisition of a majority share of
ECC, taking its holding to 77.32% of common
stock.  Funds raised have been successfully
deployed to aggressively expand the business,

increasing origination capability in North and
South America.  

5.2 Element Markets LLC – USA

Inland Gas and Electric is a special purpose
investment vehicle established by the Company
and Element Markets LLC, with a mandate to
focus on aggregation of a portfolio of US based
Emission Reduction Credits (ERCs) which
represent locally regulated NOx and SOx
pollutants at both a state and country level and
Renewable Energy Credits (RECs) which are a
independently tradable credits assigned to a
generator’s power produced from renewable
sources.  The vehicle was completed in June 2007,
and fully funded in July 2007 with a total of
US$15m, of which two thirds was contributed by
the Company.  Following positive results, the
Company made available a further US$10m at the
end of 2007.  This Company’s share of the portfolio
was valued at US$27.5m in June 2008 after a
distribution of US$176,000 and before tax. 

6 Middle East, Africa and other regions

The Company has enhanced the regional
diversification of its carbon portfolio through the
development of networks and relationships that
are bringing some significant project opportunities
in the Middle East.  This is a region of significant
potential for CDM.  

The Company has formed a partnership with a
Jordanian energy management and consulting
company which has supported two projects under
negotiation in Jordan, and has business activities
in the UAE and Kuwait.  We expect to continue to
cooperate on the development and
implementation of CDM projects in Jordan,
Kuwait, and also Egypt and Turkey. 

Significant CDM projects in Africa are rare,
however the Company has recently reached an in
principle agreement for a substantial project in
sub-Saharan Africa and is now in exclusive
negotiations to agree a contract. 



Trading Emissions PLC | Report & Accounts

Page | 18

Investment Adviser’s Report (continued)

6.1 EcoTraders Ltd - Israel

At the beginning of 2008, the Company
successfully completed an equity investment of
€1.23m for 25% of EcoTraders Ltd, a CDM
development business in Israel.  EcoTraders was
established in 2004 and has since developed a
strong CDM project portfolio within Israel
comprising landfill gas, fuel switch, SF6 reduction
(from magnesium production) and natural gas
power generation.  The Company also committed
to provide EcoTraders with a loan of €1.5m which
will be repaid with approximately 270,000 CERs.
Funds will be used to finance the expansion of the
business.

EcoTraders developed an SF6 methodology which
was approved by the CDM Methodology Panel in
early 2008, and has already developed two SF6
projects in Israel which are currently being
implemented and validated.  EcoTraders is
looking to expand its business to new markets,
focussing on Eastern Europe, Central Asia and
China.  The group has good relationships in
Turkey which will become increasingly interesting
as Turkey is expected to ratify the Kyoto Protocol
within the coming months.  This investment will
enable the Company to access the Israeli market as
well as the new markets that EcoTraders is moving
into.

6.2 Sun Biofuels – Africa 

Following an investment for a minority position in
Sun Biofuels in February 2006, the Company took
over a controlling stake in September 2007
through the acquisition of minority shareholders’
interests.  Planting trials in Ethiopia have
demonstrated that the economics of the current
plantations are marginal as a result of poor land
conditions.  Operations in Tanzania and
Mozambique have also been slow as a result of
long lead times for approvals to begin planting.
The business has therefore seen a further
deterioration in value, now standing at $3.0m at 30
June.  However, several encouraging milestones
have been reached post year end.  Following the

Company’s move to control the business, a rights
issue was finalised to raise working capital to
push the business plan forward, permissions have
been granted and significant land preparation
carried out as part of a planting programme in
Mozambique.

6.3 Carbon Capital Markets – UK

The Company provided Carbon Capital Markets
Limited (CCM) with a €1,500,000 loan in April
2008 to enable CCM to meet short term cash
requirements.  The loan was conditional upon
CCM and its shareholders’ agreement to a
restructuring of the business.  CCM repaid the
loan in July 2008, and in September announced its
intention of raising capital through the right issue
offer.  The Company intends to underwrite the
whole right issue conditional upon CCM agreeing
the terms of an underwriting/debt restructuring
agreement   The rights issue is still under
negotiation at the time of this report.

7 CER Portfolio Commercialisation

The Company’s commercialisation activity
through the secondary CER market has evolved
substantially during the last six months.  The
Company has so far entered into three types of
transaction:

Exchange traded forward sales in which the
company sells non project specific, but EU ETS
compliant CERs through the European Climate
Exchange, for which physical settlement will take
place in December 2008 to 2012.  

Over-the-Counter (OTC) bilateral transactions
through which the Company has sold CERs from
specific small scale renewable energy and energy
efficiency projects to the UK Government to offset
ministerial air travel and to a distributor of high
quality retail offsets. 

CER – EUA Swaps through which the Company
executed contracts to swap CERs plus a cash
premium for EUAs, in some cases creating the
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additional benefit that EUA receipt takes place in
2008, whereas the Company’s corresponding
delivery of CERs takes places over the period
2008-2012. 

At the date of this report, 19% of the aggregate
pre-2012 CER portfolio had been committed to one
of these activities, of which approximately 70%
was sales via exchange and OTC, and 30%
unhedged swaps, generating a long position in
EUAs. 

Exchange sale volumes and contracted revenues at
the date of this report are summarised in Table 4
below. 

As the volumes above demonstrate, the Company
has predominantly sold strips of CERs for delivery
during each of the four years from December 2009
to 2012, as well completing a single trade of 2012
CERs.  The Company also forward sold a portion
of the EUAs that will be received as a result of
swap transactions in 2008. 

The Adviser is mindful of the trade-off between
fixing a forward sale price and managing the cash
collateral in the form of margining required.  We
are also reviewing options for increased flexibility
and cash efficiency through the use of options and
structured products.  

The tables indicate the contracted revenues that
the Company expects to receive during 2008

(€32.2m), and to 2012 (€151.5m).  The Company
has deliberately avoided the sale of its issued CER
inventory, and those CERs to be received during
the months up until April 2009 based on the
expectation of increasing price tension as a result
of a market shortfall of CERs.  Considering swap
transactions, OTC and exchange trading, only
1.16m CERs have been forward sold or committed
for delivery to April 2009.  The balance of at least
4m CERs and a further 1m EUAs remains un-
committed, and if sold will generate significant
revenue during the next financial year. 

EEA Fund Management Ltd
15 October 2008

Table 4: Exchange traded forward sales on the date of publication

* weighted average prices are rounded to two decimal places

Exchange sales Dec-08

CER Volume

Weighted average CER price*

EUA Volume

Weighted average EUA price*

Contracted revenues

265,000

€18.41

1,083,000

€25.23

€32,206,068

1,150,000

€21.49

-

-

€24,716,125

Dec-09 Dec-10 Dec-11 Dec-12 Total

1,150,000

€21.49

-

-

€24,716,125

1,150,000

€21.49

-

-

€24,716,125

2,150,000

€21.01

-

-

€45,176,125

5,865,000

€21.18

1,083,000

€25.23

€151,530,568

Murilo Hideki Ashiguti (11) Brasil



Principal activities, trading review and future
developments

Trading Emission PLC was incorporated in the Isle
of Man as a public limited company on 15 March
2005 for the purpose of investing in environmental
and emission assets, companies providing
products and services related to reduction of green
house gas (GHG) emissions and associated
financial products.

Results and dividends

The Group's results for the year ended 30 June
2008 are set out in the consolidated income
statement on page 26.

A review of the Company’s activities is contained
within the Chairman's Statement and the
Investment Adviser's Report on pages 5 and 9
respectively. 

The Directors do not recommend the payment of
dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2008
(30 June 2007: £nil) and recommend that the profit
for the year 2008: £188,419,000 (2007: £151,843,000)
is taken to reserves.

Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and
to date were as follows:

The following Directors had interests in the shares
of the Company as at 30 June

Company Secretary 

The secretary of the Company throughout the year
and to date was P P Scales.

Auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, have
indicated their willingness to continue in office in
accordance with section 12(2) of the Companies
Act 1982.

Post balance sheet events

For a summary of significant transactions entered
into by the Group subsequent to 30 June 2008 see
note 34 in the financial statements.

By order of the Board

Philip Scales
Company Secretary
15 October 2008
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their report and accounts for the year ended 30 June 2008.

P P Scales (Resigned 31 December 2007
and reappointed 14 January
2008)

R N S Bigland (Resigned 31 December 2007)

N D Eckert

N H Wood

M J Gillies

B Rassool (Appointed 18 October 2007)

2007
Ordinary

shares
C shares

2008
Ordinary

shares
C shares

750,000

-

1,000,000 

25,000 

1,773,300 

21,707

-

-

N D Eckert

M J Gillies
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Statement of Directors' Responsibilities in respect of the
Annual Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. 

Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare the Group and parent company financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union. The financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing those
financial statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state that the financial statements comply with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
the Company and the Group will continue in business.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and to enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Isle of Man Companies Acts 1931 to 2004. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the Company's website. Legislation in
the Isle of Man governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

By Order of the Board 

Philip Scales
Company Secretary
15 October 2008
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Directors recognise the value of the Principles of Good Governance and Code of Best Practice as set
out in the Combined Code and although the Company is not obliged by the rules of the Alternative
Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange to do so, the Board intends to take appropriate
measures to ensure that the Company complies with the Combined Code to the extent appropriate taking
into account the size of the Company and the nature of its business.

The Board directs the Company's activities in an effective manner through its regular Board meetings and
monitors performance through timely and relevant reporting procedures.

The members of the Board, all of whom are non-executive, meet more regularly than is usual for a
company of this size as investment recommendations are currently agreed at Board meetings. In addition
to formal Board and Committee meetings, Directors also attend a number of informal meetings to
represent the Company's interests.

The Board has established an Audit Committee but does not consider it necessary to have a separate
nomination committee or to continue to have a separate remuneration committee. Matters relating to
nominations and remuneration are now dealt with at regular Board meetings. Nigel Wood is Chairman
of the Audit Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is a sub-committee of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board which
retains the right of final decision. The Audit Committee has primary responsibility for reviewing the
financial statements and the accounting policies, principles and practices underlying them, liaising with
the external auditors and reviewing the effectiveness of internal controls.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee cover the following:

•  The composition of the Committee, quorum and who else attends meetings.

• Appointment and duties of Chairman.

• Duties in relation to external reporting, including reviews of financial statements, shareholder
communications and other announcements.

• Duties in relation to the external auditors, including appointment / dismissal, approval of fees,
discussion of the audit.

Nigel Wood
Chairman, Audit Committee
15 October 2008



Report on the consolidated and parent company financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated and parent company financial statements of Trading
Emissions PLC and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) which comprise the Consolidated and Company
Balance Sheet as of 30 June 2008 and the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated and Company
Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements for the year then
ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with applicable Isle of Man law and International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the European Union. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. This report,
including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body in
accordance with Section 15 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982 and for no other purpose.  We do not,
in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior
consent in writing.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Trading
Emissions PLC
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Opinion

In our opinion:

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position
of the Group as of 30 June 2008, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union;

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the parent
company as of 30 June 2008, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982; and

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Isle of Man Companies
Acts 1931 to 2004.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants
Isle of Man
15 October 2008



Consolidated Income Statement 
for the year ended 30 June 2008
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Income

Revenue

Interest income

Dividend income

Other income

Changes in inventory at fair value less costs 
to sell

Changes in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Total net income

Expenses

Investment advisory fees

Performance fees

Administration and custodian fees

Directors' fees

Net foreign exchange losses

Other operating expenses

Impairment charges

Total operating expenses

Profit before taxation

Income tax expenses

Profit after taxation

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Minority interest

Basic and diluted per ordinary share

Basic and diluted per C share

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company during the year
(expressed in pence per share)

10

10

5

5

5

6

8

7

9

24

24

4,014

11,563

1,202

218

19,616

218,272

254,885

(8,947)

(40,487)

(535)

(136)

(292)

(7,337)

(3,108)

(60,842)

194,043

(5,624)

188,419

188,980

(561)

188,419

70.29p

16.49p 

-

13,828

1,243

29

4,017

170,629

189,746

(5,730)

(26,173)

(383)

(150)

(2,227)

(3,240)

-

(37,903)

151,843

-

151,843

151,876 

(33)

151,843

65.64p

36.15p 

Year ended
30 June 2008

£'000

Note Restated
Year ended

30 June 2007
£'000

The notes on pages 31 to 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets 
As at 30 June 2008

Assets
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables

Current assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables
Inventory at fair value less costs to sell
Cash and cash equivalents

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss
Provisions for liabilities and charges

Net current assets

Non current liabilities
Other payables
Borrowings
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss
Deferred income tax liabilities

Net assets

Financed by:
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium
Capital redemption reserve
Retained earnings
Translation reserve
Total shareholders' equity
Minority interest
Total equity

13
14
15
10
12
17

10
12
17
18
16

19
20
10

21

19
20
10

22

25
26
27
27
27

-
-

6,109
192,869
10,777

189
209,944

1,891
380

3,418
6,614

262,150
274,453

(29,275)
-

-
-

(29,275)
245,178

-
-
-
-
-
-

455,122

3,100
296,831

-
155,191

-
455,122

-
455,122

495
4,626

-
199,322

217
37

204,697

1,956
329

3,983
6,639

266,619
279,526

(29,649)
-

-
-

(29,649)
249,877

(385)
-
-
-
-

(385)
454,189

3,100
296,831

-
154,868

(761)
454,038

151
454,189

30 June 2008
Note Restated

30 June 2007
Group
£’000

Company
£’000

-
-

41,830
348,904
38,900

648
430,282

52,895
1,341

26,261
26,258

139,157
245,912

(44,485)
-

(8,319)
(1,556)

(54,360)
191,552

-
-
-
-
-
-

621,834

2,800
297,061

70
321,903

-
621,834

-
621,834

3,436
10,742

-
415,984
10,091

-
440,253

52,913
1,218

27,305
31,734

146,639
259,809

(45,832)
(192)

(8,656)
(1,653)

(56,333)
203,476

(126)
(192)

(2,374)
(5,548)
(8,240)

635,489

2,800
297,061

70
331,929

2,786
634,646

843
635,489

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15 October
2008 and signed on their behalf by:

Nigel Wood Philip Scales
Director Director

The notes on pages 31 to 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.



Balance at 1 July 2006

Profit for the year

Loss on acquisition 
(note 33)

Exchange differences on
translating foreign
operations

Total recognised income
and expense

Minority interest arising on
business combinations

Balance at 30 June 2007

Profit for the year

Loss on acquisition 
(note 33)

Exchange differences on
translating foreign
operations

Total recognised income
and expense

Dividends paid

Share conversion (note 25)

Purchase of own shares
(note 25)

Minority interests arising on
business combinations

Balance at 30 June 2008 

144

(33)

-

25

(8)

15

151

(561)

-

(24)

(585)

(84)

-

-

1,361

843

304,324

151,843

(1,508)

(485)

149,850

15

454,189

188,419

(1,952)

3,523

189,990

(84)

-

(9,967)

1,361

635,489

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Minority
interest

£'000

Total
equity
£'000

304,180

151,876

(1,508)

(510)

149,858

-

454,038

188,980

(1,952)

3,547

190,575

-

-

(9,967)

-

634,646

Total 
£'000

(251)

-

-

(510)

(510)

-

(761)

-

-

3,547

3,547

-

-

-

-

2,786

Translation
reserve

£'000

4,500

151,876

(1,508)

-

150,368

-

154,868

188,980

(1,952)

-

187,028

-

-

(9,967)

-

331,929

Retained
earnings

£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

70

-

70

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

296,831

-

-

-

-

-

296,831

-

-

-

-

-

230

-

-

297,061

Share
premium

£'000

3,100

-

-

-

-

-

3,100

-

-

-

-

-

(230)

(70)

-

2,800

Share
capital
£'000

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
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Balance at 1 July 2006

Profit for the year
Total recognised income

Balance at 30 June 2007

Profit for the year
Total recognised income

Share conversion (note 25)
Purchase of own shares (note 25)

Balance at 30 June 2008 

304,786

150,336
150,336

455,122

176,679
176,679

-
(9,967)

621,834

4,855

150,336
150,336

155,191

176,679
176,679

-
(9,967)

321,903

Retained
earnings

£'000

Total
equity
£'000

-

-
-

-

-
-

-
70

70

296,831

-
-

296,831

-
-

230
-

297,061

3,100

-
-

3,100

-
-

(230)
(70)

2,800

Share
premium

£'000

Share
capital
£'000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£'000

Company Statement of Changes in Equity 
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2008

The notes on pages 31 to 84 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the year
Adjustment for:
- interest income
- dividend income
- tax expense
- depreciation and amortisation
- exchange losses 
- impairment charge
Changes in working capital:
Net increase in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss 
Net increase in inventory at fair value less costs to sell
Net increase / (decrease) in financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in trade and other receivables

Cash used in operations

Interest received
Net cash (used in)/generated by operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Movement in restricted cash
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Purchase of intangible assets
Loans granted to subsidiaries
Loans granted to third parties
Loans repaid by third parties
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
Purchase of own shares (note 25)
Dividends paid
Loans received
Net cash from financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 
(note 16)

150,336 

(13,710)
(1,362)

33
-

2,196
-

(171,113)
(6,614)

-
27,884

(966)

(13,316)

13,866

550

(49,792)
-
-

(6,902)
-
-
-

(56,694)

-
-
-
-

(56,144)
270,802
(2,300)

212,358

151,843

(13,828)
(1,243)

-
44

2,227
-

(175,002)
(6,639)

(59)
28,141

(933)

(15,449)

13,968

(1,481)

(49,792)
(38)

(147)
-

(144)
-

(3,707)
(53,828)

-
-
-
-

(55,309)
274,923
(2,787)

216,827

Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

176,679

(11,501)
(1,701)

74
-

318
5,967

(217,638)
(16,667)

8,319
16,733

(20,988)

(60,405)

10,846

(49,559)

(12,314)
(36,040)

-
(16,644)
(11,463)

307
-

(76,154)

(9,967)
-
-

(9,967)

(135,680)
212,358

369

77,047

188,419

(11,563)
(1,166)

5,624
700
292

3,108

(270,071)
(25,095)

11,030
16,767

(21,291)

(103,246)

11,026

(92,220)

(12,314)
(3,490)

(34)
-

(11,023)
307

(4,004)
(30,558)

(9,967)
(84)
384

(9,667)

(132,445)
216,827

147

84,529

Group
£'000

Company
£'000
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Notes to the financial statements
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1 Operations

Trading Emissions PLC (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) invest in
environmental and emissions assets, companies providing products and services related to reduction of
green house gas (GHG) emissions and associated financial products. The Company also aims to provide
shareholders with opportunities to invest in environmental ventures that offer potential returns with a
view to the realisation of each investment through future trade sale, flotation or other exit route.

The Company is a closed-ended investment company domiciled in the Isle of Man and the address of its
registered office is IOMA House, Hope Street, Douglas Isle of Man IM1 1AP.  It was incorporated on 15
March 2005 in the Isle of Man as a public limited company and is quoted on the Alternative Investment
Market (AIM) operated and regulated by the London Stock Exchange. The Company has no employees.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU IFRS, IFRIC interpretations and the Isle of Man Companies
Acts 1931-2004. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by the revaluation of financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments)
at fair value through profit or loss and the revaluation of inventory.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires the directors to exercise their judgement in the process of applying
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4. 

As permitted by Section 3 of the Isle of Man Companies Act 1982, the Company has not presented its
separate income statement. The amount of the Company’s profit for the financial year dealt with in the
financial statements of the Group is £176,679,000 (2007: £150,336,000).  

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Group has adopted IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures and IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements - Capital Disclosures . The
adoption of IFRS 7 and the amendment to IAS 1 impacted the disclosures made in these financial
statements, but had no impact on the reported profits or financial position of the Group. In accordance
with the transitional requirements of the standards, the Group and the Company provided full
comparative information.

The IFRSs adopted by the EU and applied by the Group and the Company in the preparation of these
financial statements are those that were effective at 30 June 2008.  New standards and interpretations to
existing standards that are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group but are likely
to have an impact on the future financial statements are:

IFRS 8, Operating Segments, is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The



application of IFRS 8 in the current year would not have affected the balance sheet or income statement
as the standard is concerned only with disclosure.  The Group will apply IFRS 8 from 1 July 2009 subject
to endorsement.

IFRIC 10, Interim financial reporting and impairment, prohibits the impairment losses recognised in an
interim period on goodwill and investments in equity instruments and in financial assets carried at cost
to be reversed at a subsequent balance sheet date. This interpretation does not have any impact on the
Group’s and the Company’s financial statements.

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (revised) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.  IAS
23 is therefore mandatory for the Group’s accounting period beginning on 1 July 2009, and the Group has
not early adopted it. IAS 23 will require the capitalisation of borrowing costs relating to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset.

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
and is therefore mandatory for the Group's accounting periods beginning on 1 July 2009.  The Group has
not early adopted it. IFRS 3 the revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to business
combinations, with some significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be
recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently
re-measured through the income statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to
measure the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-related costs are required to be expensed.
The Group will apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations (revised) prospectively to all business combinations
from 1 July 2009.

2.2 Consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the results of the Company and its subsidiaries as set out
in note 15 (together referred to as the “Group”). 

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the
Group. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to
the acquisition. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at fair value at the acquisition date, irrespective of the
extent of any minority interest. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group's
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of the acquisition is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in the
income statement.
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Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

In the Company’s financial statements investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.
Cost is measured as the fair value of the consideration given to acquire the share capital of the
subsidiary undertakings.

(b) Transactions and minority interests

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority interests as transactions with
parties external to the Group. Disposals to minority interests result in gains and losses for the Group
that are recorded in the income statement. Purchases from minority interests result in goodwill, being
the difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary.

(c) Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments that are held
as part of the Group's investment portfolio are carried in the balance sheet at fair value even though
the Group may have significant influence over those companies. This treatment is permitted by IAS
28, which requires investments held by mutual funds and similar entities to be excluded from its
scope where those investments are designated, upon initial recognition, at fair value through profit
or loss and accounted for in accordance with IAS 39, with changes in fair value recognised in the
income statement in the period of change.

2.3 Segmental reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing investments and returns
that are subject to risk and returns that are different from those of other business segments. The directors
are of the opinion that the Group is engaged in a single business segment being investing in interests in
a portfolio of environmental ventures. 

The Group's secondary reporting format for reporting segmental information is geographic segments.  A
geographical segment is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in
other economic environments.  A summary of the Group’s geographical segments is presented in note 32.

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in British pounds, which is the
Company's functional and presentational currency.



(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities and investments held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised as part of the fair value gain or loss.

(c) Group companies

The result and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of that balance sheet;

(ii) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity, the
“translation reserve”.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign
operations are taken to shareholders' equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of
the gain or loss on sale.

2.5 Interest income

Interest income is recognised in the income statement for all interest bearing instruments using the
effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of
allocating the interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts future cash payments or receipts throughout the expected life of the financial instrument, or a
shorter period where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. No income is accrued
with regards to financial assets that are in default.

2.6 Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Realised and unrealised
gains on the holding of units in money market funds are categorised as interest income.

2.7 Other income

Other income represents the provision of services which are recognised in the period in which the
services are rendered.  Other income also includes distributions from investments in Limited Partnerships.
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2.8 Expenses

All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis.

2.9 Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax.  The current income tax charge is calculated on
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. 

The Company currently incurs withholding tax imposed by certain countries on investment income. Such
income is recorded gross of withholding tax in the income statement.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

2.10 Financial assets and financial liabilities 

(a) The Group classifies its financial assets and financial liabilities in the following categories: at fair
value through profit or loss, and loans and receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for
which the financial assets and financial liabilities were acquired. The Directors determine the
classification of financial assets and financial liabilities at initial recognition and re-evaluate the
designation at each reporting date.

(i) Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets and liabilities held for trading, and those
designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. Financial assets or liabilities held for
trading are acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading, as the Group has not designated
any derivatives as hedges in hedging relationships.

Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception
are those that are managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance
with the Company’s documented investment strategy.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides money directly to
a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. These are classified as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are separately stated on the balance sheet.
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(b) Recognition

The Group recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Regular-way purchases and sales of investments are recognised on trade date, which is the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of “financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss” and “financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” categories are included in the
income statement in the period in which they arise. Interest income on debt instruments is calculated
using the effective interest method and presented separately in the income statement.

Emission Reduction Purchase Agreements

The Group enters into Emission Reduction Purchase Agreements (ERPAs). ERPAs are contracts for
the future purchase of Carbon Credits (CCs) with payment due upon delivery.

The Group recognises an ERPA when it enters into a binding contract with either a supplier relating
to a project that produces CCs or an agreement with an energy, agricultural or industrial company to
either jointly or solely develop a facility that will generate CCs.

(c) Measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs for
all financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed as
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, all instruments classified at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value with changes in their fair value recognised in the income statement

Financial assets classified as loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method, less impairment losses, if any.

Financial liabilities, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate.

(d) Fair value measurement principles

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and trading securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market
price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted
market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price.

If a quoted market price is not available on a recognised stock exchange or from a broker/dealer for
non-exchange-traded financial instruments, the fair value of the instrument is estimated using
valuation techniques, including use of recent arm's length market transactions, reference to the
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow
techniques, option pricing models or any other valuation technique that provides a reliable estimate
of prices obtained in actual market transactions.

In order for the Group or a supplier to the Group to produce a CC, a number of steps must be performed,
as follows:
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(i) where the project does not use an existing approved baseline and monitoring methodology,
approval of a new methodology by the CDM-EB (Clean Development Mechanism – Executive
Board) must occur;

(ii) submission for public review of a Project Design Document (PDD);

(iii) written approval of the project from the host country Designated National Authority (DNA)
must be obtained;

(iv) written approval of an Annex 1 Party e.g. government of UK is obtained;

(v) project Validation must be completed by an approved Designated Operational Entity (DOE);

(vi) project Registration occurs once validation is completed subject to there being no objection
from any of the parties involved or members of the CDM-EB; 

(vii) project operations; and

(viii) verification of the CCs by an approved DOE (different to that DOE which validated the
project).

When the CDM-EB receives the Verification report, which constitutes a request to the CDM-EB to issue
and distribute CCs, the CDM Registry administrator issues CCs into a temporary CDM account or a
national registry account as instructed by project participants.

The delivery of CCs under ERPAs entered into by the Group or Company are subject to the success of the
underlying projects which produce the CCs and there is no guarantee of delivery.  

ERPAs are recorded in the Group’s financial statements at their fair value from the date the ERPA is
signed. The fair values of the ERPAs are determined using recent market transactions and valuation
techniques including discounted net cash flow models, as appropriate. The estimates, judgements and
assumptions used by the Group in determining the fair values of each ERPA at each period end are
disclosed in note 4.  

Details of the Group's commitments under ERPAs at 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007 are set out in note
29.2.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on Directors’ best
estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the balance sheet date applicable for an
instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where other pricing models are used, inputs are based on
market data at the balance sheet date. Fair values for unquoted equity investments are estimated, if
possible, using applicable price/earning ratios adjusted to reflect the specific circumstances of the issuer.

(e) Impairment

Financial assets that are stated at amortised cost are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such indication exists, an impairment loss
is recognised in the income statement as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective
interest rate.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss recognised on a financial asset carried at
amortised cost decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an event occurring after the
write-down, the write-down is reversed through the income statement.



(f) Derecognition

The Group derecognises financial assets and financial liabilities when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets and financial liabilities have expired or the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

The Group uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses on
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.

2.11 Derivative financial instruments 

The best evidence of the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition is the transaction price (i.e. the fair
value of the consideration). All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as
liabilities when fair value is negative.  Subsequent changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument
are recognised immediately in the income statement.

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.13 Dividends 

Final dividend payments to the Company's shareholders are recognised as a liability in the financial
statements in the period in which the dividend payment is approved by the Company's shareholders.

Interim dividends paid are recognised in the period in which the payment is made.

2.14 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the
net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition
of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Separately recognised goodwill is tested annually for
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill
are not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of
goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

(b) Project developments

Costs that are directly associated with the development of projects which will ultimately produce
CCs and qualify for capitalisation and recognition are recognised as intangible assets. It must be
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probable that the related costs will generate future economic benefits and that the amounts
capitalised are clearly identifiable and allocable to specific projects. Costs include the payment of
feasibility and environmental studies and engineering costs.

Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis from the date that the
intangible assets are available for use over their estimated useful life of 11 years as part of other
operating expenses. 

2.15 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example goodwill, are not subject to amortisation and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

2.16 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the construction or acquisition
of items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the costs can be measured reliably. All other subsequent costs (primarily repairs and
maintenance) are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is not provided on freehold land or projects under construction. On other property, plant
and equipment, depreciation is provided on the difference between the cost of an item and its estimated
residual value, in equal annual instalments over the estimated useful economic lives of the asset which is
5 years for both motor vehicles and furniture and equipment and 11 years for biogas plant.

The assets' residual values and useful economic lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.  Gains and losses on
disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within
other operating expenses, in the income statement. 

2.17 Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Inventories of CCs are stated at fair value less costs to sell at each reporting date, as they are principally
acquired with the purpose of selling in the near future.  Changes in fair value less costs to sell are
recognised in the income statement in the period of the change.  Fair value is determined using quoted
market prices.  In the absence of a quoted market price, valuation models and evidence of recent
transactions in the prevailing CC secondary market are used.



2.18 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or
financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are
considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an
allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to the income statement.

2.19 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. Cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Restricted cash is carried in the balance sheet at cost. Restricted cash comprises reserve funds required
for settlement of specific long term contracts and margin call cash accounts.

2.20 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate.

2.21 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

2.22 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount
has been reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.
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2.23 Share capital

The Company's shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

2.24 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and
services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns
and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities as described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results,
taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.

(a) Sales – Power generation
The Group operates a number of power generation projects.  Revenue is recognised when a Group
entity sells power to the customer.

(b) Sales – CERs
The Group recognises revenue on the sale of a CER when the CER is delivered to a buyer.

(c) Sales - Options
The Group has granted options to customers to purchase further CERs.  The sale of the option is
recognised at the time the option is agreed.

3 Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair
value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

The Group's risk management policies are discussed below.

3.1 Market risk

(i) Price risk

The Group is exposed to investment security price risk as it invests in quoted and unquoted equity
securities which are classified on the balance sheet as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss. The Group may also trade in financial instruments, taking positions in traded and OTC
instruments, including derivatives, to take advantage of short-term market movements in the
emission markets. The Group may therefore buy or sell call or put options and financial futures. It
may do so on a covered or uncovered basis.



The Group's investment securities including derivative financial instruments are susceptible to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about future prices of these securities and instruments.
The Group's overall market positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Group's investment
adviser and are reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Directors.

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

A significant proportion of the Group's financial assets are interest bearing. As a result, the Group is
subject to significant amounts of risk due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's cash and investment portfolio. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate risk on its investment portfolio. The returns
on the Group's investments in both money market funds and cash deposits are linked to short-term
deposit rates and are therefore linked closely to bank base rate changes. For the purpose of the
disclosure below these investments have been treated as variable rate. 

Certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss contain fixed interest rates, and therefore
changes in the base rate will not affect the interest receivable cash flows. There are no interest bearing
liabilities.

The table below summarises the Group's exposure to interest rate risk. It includes the Group's assets
and liabilities at fair values, categorised by the order of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.
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Assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Deferred income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

3,436

10,742

468,897

11,309

27,305

31,734

146,639

700,062

(45,958)

(384)

(11,030)

(1,653)

(5,548)

(64,573)

635,489

3,436

10,742

445,400

-

27,305

31,734

-

518,617

(45,958)

-

(11,030)

(1,653)

(5,548)

(64,189)

454,428

Non-interest
bearing 

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

23,497

10,091

-

-

-

33,588

-

(192)

-

-

-

(192)

33,396

-

-

-

1,218

- 

-

146,639

147,857

-

(192)

-

-

-

(192)

147,665

Up to 1 year
£'000

At 30 June 2008 1 to 5 years
£'000
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Assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Total liabilities

Net assets

495

4,626

201,278

546

4,020

6,639

266,619

484,223

(30,034)

(30,034)

454,189

495

4,626

183,083

-

4,020

6,639

-

198,863

(30,034)

(30,034)

168,829

Non-interest
bearing 

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

18,195

217

-

-

-

18,412

-

-

18,412

-

-

-

329

-

-

266,619

266,948

-

-

266,948

Up to 1 year
£'000

At 30 June 2007 1 to 5 years
£'000

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

- 

10.00

3.00

8.00

2.70

2.14

USD PHP

- 

- 

2.37

-

20.00

3.72

12.00

-

5.52

EURGBPAt 30 June 2008 THB

The table below summarises average effective interest rates for monetary financial instruments.

% per annum

Assets

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

- 

10.00

1.00

8.00

9.00

2.20

USD PHP

- 

- 

4.25

-

-

-

12.00

-

5.60

EURGBPAt 30 June 2007 THB

% per annum
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(iii) Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the Euro and US dollar.  Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign
operations.

The tables below summarise the Group's exposure to currency risk.

The sterling equivalent of the Group's assets and liabilities incorporated in the table above under “Other”
include total net assets / (net liabilities) denominated in the following currencies;  THB: £8,090,000; PHP:
£4,497,000; PEN: £3,176,000; BRL: £36,686,000; and VND: £(24,000).

(all expressed in £ '000)

Assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Provision for other liabilities and
charges

Deferred income tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

3,436

10,742

468,897

11,309

27,305

31,734

146,639

700,062

(45,958)

(384)

(11,030)

(1,653)

(5,548)

(64,573)

635,489

297

9,898

37,690

20

1,197

-

4,545

53,647

(838)

(384)

-

-

-

(1,222)

52,425

Other Total

1,590

293

20,832

10,103

26

-

2,184

35,028

(242)

-

(3,002)

(1,653)

(1,153)

(6,050)

28,978

-

-

397,112

1,186

10,699

31,734

11,263

451,994

(2)

-

(8,028)

-

-

(8,030)

443,964

1,549

551

13,263

-

15,383

-

128,647

159,393

(44,876)

-

-

-

(4,395)

(49,271)

110,122

EURGBPAt 30 June 2008 USD
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The sterling equivalent of the Group's assets and liabilities incorporated in the table above under “Other”
include total net assets / (liabilities) denominated in the following currencies; THB: £6,529,000; PHP:
£3,319,000; and PEN: £1,885,000.

(all expressed in £ '000)

Assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Liabilities

Trade and other payables

Total liabilities

Net assets

495

4,626

201,278

546

4,020

6,639

266,619

484,223

(30,034)

(30,034)

454,189

284

4,609

4,323

144

622

-

2,024

12,006

(272)

(272)

11,734

Other Total

-

17

13,888

402

107

-

28,148

42,562

(479)

(479)

42,083

-

-

167,876

-

601

6,639

-

175,116

-

-

175,116

211

- 

15,191

-

2,690

-

236,447

254,539

(29,283)

(29,283)

225,256

EURGBPAt 30 June 2007 USD

Thai Baht

US Dollar

Philippine Peso

Peruvian New Sol

Euro

Brazilian Rial

Vietnamese Dong

63.68 

2.01 

92.50 

6.36

1.48 

-

-

66.62

1.99

89.27

5.90

1.26

3.20

33,554.31

20072008Exchange rates to British pounds at 30 June:

(iv) Sensitivity analysis

A financial instrument is defined in IAS 32 as any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one
entity (effectively the contractual right to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity)
and a financial liability (effectively the contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial
asset to another entity) or equity instrument (effectively a residual interest in the assets of an entity)
of another. IFRS 7 requires disclosure of a sensitivity analysis that is intended to illustrate the



sensitivity of the Group’s financial position and performance to changes in market variables (carbon
credit prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices) as a result of changes in the fair
value or cash flows associated with the Group’s financial instruments. The sensitivity analysis
discloses the effect on profit or loss at 30 June 2008 assuming that a reasonably possible change in the
relevant risk variable had occurred at 30 June 2008 and been applied to the risk exposures in existence
at that date to show the effects of reasonably possible changes in price on profit or loss to the next
annual reporting date. The reasonably possible changes in market variables used in the sensitivity
analysis were determined based on implied volatilities where available or historical data.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared based on 30 June 2008 balances and on the basis that the
balances and the proportion of financial instruments in foreign currencies at 30 June 2008 are all
constant. Excluded from this analysis are all non-financial assets and liabilities. The sensitivity to
foreign exchange rates relates only to monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the commercial operation transacting, and excludes the translation of
the net assets of foreign operations to pounds sterling.

The sensitivity analysis provided is hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts
provided are not necessarily indicative of the actual impacts that would be experienced because the
Group’s actual exposure to market rates is constantly changing as the Group’s portfolio of carbon
credit and assets and liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency
changes. Changes in fair values or cash flows based on a variation in a market variable cannot be
extrapolated because the relationship between the change in market variable and the change in fair
value or cash flows may not be linear. In addition, the effect of a change in a particular market
variable on fair values or cash flows is calculated without considering interrelationships between the
various market rates or mitigating actions that would be taken by the Group.

If the market price applied to the Group's portfolio of carbon credits included within financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and inventory had been 10% higher the fair value of
these assets and liabilities would have increased by £64,619,000 (2007: £30,581,000) with a
corresponding increase in the unrealised gain in the income statement.  If the market price applied
to the Group's portfolio of carbon credits included within financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and inventory had been 10% lower the fair value would have decreased by
£64,621,000 (2007: £30,581,000) with a corresponding decrease in the unrealised gain in the income
statement.

If the foreign exchange rates in use at 30 June 2008 had seen the pound sterling strengthen by 10%
then the value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss would
have decreased by £39,460,000 (2007: £16,628,000) with a corresponding decrease in unrealised gain
in the income statement.  If the foreign exchange rates in use at 30 June 2008 had seen the pound
sterling weaken by 10% then the value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss would have increased by £48,227,000 (2007: £20,323,000) with a corresponding
increase in the unrealised gain in the income statement.

3.2 Credit risk

The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to pay
amounts in full when due. Impairment provisions are provided for losses that have been incurred by the
balance sheet date, if any.
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All transactions in listed and quoted securities are settled/paid for upon delivery using approved
brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the
broker has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have been received by
the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet their obligation.

The Group's financial assets at fair value through the profit or loss are predominantly the fair value of
ERPAs relating to CERs, over which the Directors consider the maximum credit risk to be the delivery of
CERs under the terms of the ERPA, the value of which is £380,922,000 (2007: £168,095,000).  Counterparty
risk associated with the Group’s ERPA’s are reviewed by the Group’s Investment Adviser and the
Company’s Directors and are reflected in the risk adjustment factors used in the Group’s ERPA valuation
model, see note 4.

The Group is exposed to counterparty credit risk in its treasury management and CER swap transactions.
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions as
well as exposure to retail customers including outstanding receivables and committed transactions  For
banks and financial institutions only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of “A” are
accepted.

The Group had no credit limits that were exceeded during the reporting period.  The Company made a
loan to its subsidiary Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd for which repayments should have started in
September 2007.  At the reporting date no repayments had been made on this loan.  The Company still
expects this loan to be repaid in full.  The Company's maximum exposure to this loan including interest
accrued to 30 June 2008 is £675,000.

There are no other significant financial assets which are passed due or impaired.

3.3 Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close
out market positions and meet financial commitments. The Group's financial assets comprise financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables and derivative financial instruments.

The Group produces cash forecasts to identify the cash requirements for the next 12 months.  The Group's
policy is to cover 100% of its ERPA obligations due within 24 months in cash deposit or cash equivalents
and in aggregate 50% of its ERPA obligations up to 2012 in cash and standby credit facilities.  The Group
expects to sell 100% CER on delivery and hedging from time to time its CER position by entering into
forward contracts.

There are no ready markets for the unquoted investments and as such, these investments may not be
readily realisable. The Group maintains the majority of its liquid assets in cash and cash equivalents in
order to meet its future financial commitments. At 30 June 2008 the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of £146,639,000 (2007: £266,619,000).

The Group's derivative contracts include contracts traded over the counter, which are not traded in any
organised public market and may be illiquid. As a result the Group may not be able to liquidate quickly
its investments in these instruments at an amount close to their fair value or to respond to specific events
such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any particular issuer.

The table overleaf analyses the Group’s financial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual
maturity date. 
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(all expressed in £ '000)

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Trade and other payables

-

-

-

-

(2,374)

-

Over 
5 years

(192)

-

(126)

(192)

(8,656)

(45,832)

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year

At 30 June 2008 Between 2
and 5 years

(all expressed in £ '000)

Trade and other payables - -

Over 
5 years

(385)(29,649)

Between 1
and 2 years

Less than 1
year

At 30 June 2007 Between 2
and 5 years

3.4 Capital risk management

The Group’s objective in managing the capital is to maintain a strong capital base.   The Group raised
sufficient funds for its operations during two share offerings in 2005 and 2006.   The Board monitors the
demographic spread of shareholders and the return on capital.   The Group defines capital as total
shareholders’ equity excluding minority interests.   

The Board will consider the return to the shareholders in the form of share buyback and dividend.
According to the Company’s Articles, it is allowed to buyback up to 10% of its ordinary shares until the
next annual general meeting.

To preserve its capital, the Board will also purchase its own shares on the market for issuing shares to the
Investment Adviser to meet part of the performance fees due.    The Board is in discussion with the
Investment Adviser to settle the performance fees in the Company’s shares in future years.

The Board seeks to achieve an internal rate of return equal to at least 10% per annum.  The Group has
maintained a low level of borrowing as well as cost of capital.  There were no changes in the Group’s
approach to capital management during the year.

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirement.

3.5 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

The Directors are of the view that there is no significant difference between the carrying values and fair
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities.

4 Critical accounting estimates, and judgements

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates
will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  Estimates and judgements are continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
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events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

4.1 Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques.  The Group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods and make
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date.

(a) Emission reduction purchase agreements and their underlying carbon credits delivery

In determining the fair value of ERPA contracts the Directors have developed a valuation model
which takes the face value of the Group’s completed contracts at each period end and adjusts the
carbon credit delivery volumes within each contract by a risk adjustment factor that takes into
account (i) project technology, (ii) the CDM status and project finance, and (iii) the development and
construction status.  The risk adjusted volumes are then valued using European Climate Exchange
(ECX) CER prices at each period end for settlement in December 2008 – 2012.  Estimated cash flows
are then discounted at a rate of 10% to determine the net present value of each contract.  

The Group has entered into ERPAs acquiring post 2012 CERs generating from pre-2012 CDM projects
during the year.  These CERs fall within the first crediting period of the project.  In ERPA valuation
as of 30 June 2008, post-2012 CERs are fair valued at €7 each (2007: €nil).  This unit price is considered
fair based on the fact that there is a market for such CERs at this price.

Changes in the risk adjustment and cash flow discount rate assumptions used within the valuation
model together with the market for carbon credits will affect the reported fair value of the ERPA
contracts.

If the estimated rate applied to the discounted cash flows had been 10% higher than Directors’
estimates (for example, 11% instead of 10%), the fair value of the Group’s ERPA contracts would have
been reduced by £10,949,000 (2007: £5,720,000).

(b) Unquoted investments

The fair value of investments in unquoted securities is determined by the Directors using valuation
techniques (for example, discounted cash flow, price earnings, and net asset multiple models) and by
taking into consideration comparable recent arm’s length transactions.  The Group uses its judgement
to select the method (typically the method used to determine the fair value of the investment when
the Group made its original purchase decision) and assumptions which are based on market
conditions existing at each reporting date.  Changes in expected future cash flows and discount rates
will affect the reported fair value of the Group’s unquoted investments.

(c) Fair value of OTC derivatives 

The Group may from time to time hold financial instruments that are not quoted in active markets,
such as OTC derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by using valuation
techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to determine fair values, they
are validated and reviewed by experienced personnel.  Models are calibrated by back-testing to actual
transactions to ensure that the outputs are reliable. Changes in assumptions will affect the reported
fair value of OTC derivatives.
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Models use observable data, to the extent practicable. However, areas such as credit risk (both own
and counterparty), volatilities and correlations require the Directors to make estimates. Changes in
assumptions about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.

5 Investment Adviser, Administration and Custodian fees

Investment advisory fees

The Company is advised by EEA Fund Management Limited (“the Investment Adviser”), an investment
management company incorporated in the United Kingdom. Under the terms of the original investment
advisory agreement dated 14 April 2005 (as amended) the Company appointed EPIC Specialist
Investments Limited (EPIC) as investment Adviser for the provision of investment advisory services to
the Company. Further to a novation agreement between the Company, EEA Fund Management Limited
and EPIC, EEA Fund Management Limited is responsible for the provision of investment advisory
services.

The investment advisory agreement is fixed for an initial period of 18 months and is terminable by either
of the parties giving not less than 12 months notice no earlier than the expiry of the initial 18 months
period. The agreement shall expire after 7 years whereby the Company and the Investment Adviser can
agree to rollover.

(a) Investment advisory fees

EEA Fund Management Limited receives an investment advisory fee payable quarterly in arrears at
a rate of 1.5% per annum of the gross asset value of the Company's investment portfolio (together
with any applicable VAT). The gross asset value excludes expenses associated with Company's
placing and admission to AIM and excludes any provision for any liabilities including borrowings or
the accrual of any fees or expenses.

Under this agreement, investment advisory fees for the year ended 30 June 2008 were £8,947,000
(2007:£5,498,000) and £2,004,000 (2007:£1,114,000) was accrued at 30 June 2008.

In addition to the investment adviser fees paid to EEA Fund Management Limited, above, the
Company’s subsidiary TEP Trading 2 Limited, paid investment adviser fees of £Nil (2007: £232,000)
to CK Environmental Capital Management LLC during the year.

(b) Performance fees

In addition to the investment advisory fees stated above, under the terms of the investment advisory
agreement, EEA Fund Management Limited receives a performance fee. The performance fee is
payable to EEA Fund Management Limited at a rate of 20% of the net profits per annum made by the
Company in respect of the portfolio subject to an annual return of at least 10% being achieved.

The performance fee payable for the year ended 30 June 2008 was £40,487,000 (2007:£26,173,000).

Administration fees

On incorporation the Company engaged the services of Northern Trust International Fund
Administration Services (Isle of Man) Limited (“Northern”) (formerly Barings (Isle of Man) Limited) for
the provision of administration, registration and secretarial services. Under the terms of the
administration agreement dated 14 April 2005, Northern received a fee of 0.15% per annum of the net
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asset value of the Company, subject to a minimum fee of £30,000 per annum (together with any applicable
VAT) or pro-rata for any period less than one year. 

On 2 May 2006 following the Company's issue of its C shares the Company entered into a revised
administration agreement (“Revised Agreement”) with Northern for the provision of administration,
registration and secretarial services. Under the terms of the Revised Agreement the Company and
Northern agreed to a reduction in the administration fee to 0.10% per annum of the combined net asset
value of both the Ordinary shares issued on 14 April 2005 and C shares issued on 2 May 2006. The revised
fee is subject to a minimum of £30,000 per annum (together with any applicable VAT) or pro-rata for any
period less than one year.

On 19 April 2007 the Company terminated Northern's agreement and appointed Chamberlain Fund
Services Limited (“Chamberlain”) as administrator of the Company on terms identical to those in place
with Northern. On the same date Chamberlain entered into a sub administration agreement between the
Company, Chamberlain and IOMA Fund and Investment Management Limited (IOMAFIM) whereby
Chamberlain has delegated certain administration functions to IOMAFIM. IOMAFIM is remunerated for
these services by Chamberlain out of the administration fee which Chamberlain receives from the
Company.

The administration agreement is terminable inter alia by either of the parties giving not less than 6
months notice.

Administration fees for the year ended 30 June 2008 were £523,000 (2007: £361,000) of which £187,000 was
accrued at 30 June 2008 (2007: £181,000).

Custodian fees

The Company has engaged the services of BNP Paribas Security Services (IOM) Limited (formerly The
Royal Bank Of Scotland Trust Company (IOM) Limited) (“the Custodian”) for the provision of custodian
services. Under the terms of the custodian agreement dated 20 April 2005 the Custodian receives
transaction fees as set out in the agreement subject to a minimum fee of £3,000 per quarter paid in arrears.

6 Directors' fees

The Company's Directors received the following fees:

Neil David Eckert

Robin Neil Siddall Bigland *

Malcolm John Gillies

Bertrand Rassool

Philip Peter Scales *

Nigel Harley Wood *

40

30

35

-

20

35

160

40

15

35

20

5

35

150

Year ended
30 June 2007

£’000

Year ended
30 June 2008

£’000

* Isle of Man directors
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In addition to their directors' fees and included in the above amounts are annual fees of £5,000 each
payable to Messrs Wood and Gillies as members of the audit committee. None of the Directors are
entitled to any cash or non-cash benefits in kind, pensions, bonus or share scheme arrangements. The
Directors are related parties and further disclosures regarding transactions with Directors have been
made in notes 30 and 31.

7 Impairment charges

(a) Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

The Company has written down the value of its investment in Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd
(“Kalasin”) in the year ended 30 June 2008 due to insufficient waste water being delivered by
suppliers in order for maximum biogas generation to be achieved.  An impairment charge of £183,000
has been recognised in the Company’s income statement for the year ended 30 June 2008.

The Company has written down the value of its investment in Sun Biofuels Limited (“Sun Biofuels”)
during the year ended 30 June 2008.

At 30 June 2007 Sun Biofuels was an associate of the Company and in accordance with IAS 28, the
Company’s 34.68% investment in the ordinary shares of Sun Biofuels purchased for £5,648,000 was
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss.  At 30 June 2007 the fair value
of the Company’s investment in Sun Biofuels’ was written down to £2,301,000 based on recent
transactions in Sun Biofuels ordinary shares.  The reduction in fair value of Sun Biofuels of £3,346,000
was recognised in the Company’s income statement within “Changes in fair value of financial assets
and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” for the year ended 30 June 2007.

On 24 September 2007 Sun Biofuels became a subsidiary of the Company after the Company acquired
a further 23.69% of Sun Biofuels’ ordinary shares at a cost of £1,010,000.  In accordance with IFRS 3
the fair value losses of £3,346,000 previously recognised were reversed from fair value through profit
or loss and an impairment charge against the carrying value of the subsidiary of £3,346,000 was
recognised in the Company’s income statement, the net effect on profit £nil.  A review of Sun Biofuels
strategy was undertaken in 2008 which resulted in a further impairment charge of £2,438,000 being
recognised in the Company’s income statement in 2008.

(b) Impairment of goodwill

As described in note 7(a), the Company acquired control of Sun Biofuels on 24 September 2007.  As a
result, in accordance with IFRS3, Sun Biofuels has been accounted for as a step acquisition.  Fair value
losses previously recognised have been reversed and an impairment charge of £2,257,000 was
recognised on acquisition (see note 32).  A further impairment charge of £851,000 was recognised in
2008, see note 13.

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
Impairment of intangible assets

-
-
-

-
-
-

Year ended 30 June 2008 Year ended 30 June 2007

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

5,967
-

5,967

-
3,108
3,108

Group
£’000

Company
£’000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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8 Operating expenses

9 Income tax expenses

The Company is liable to Isle of Man income tax at the rate of zero percent.  Companies within the Group
which are incorporated outside the Isle of Man are taxed in accordance with the laws, rules and
regulations within their own countries.

Administration expenses
Salaries
Professional fees
Project registration costs
VAT (recoverable) / irrecoverable
Other expenses
Depreciation (note 14)
Amortisation (note 13)
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor:
Audit of the Company’s annual financial statements*
Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries
Other assurance services
Tax services – advisory fees

383
-

884
13

929
780
38
6

199
8
-
-

3,240

1,642
1,314
1,962

759
(1,270)

1,938
686
14

184 
12
67
29

7,337

Year ended
30 June 2007

Group
£'000

Year ended
30 June 2008

Group
£'000

* Audit fees paid to the Company’s auditor in the year ended 30 June 2007 included £33,000 in respect of an underaccrual of audit fees for the period
ended 30 June 2006.

Current tax

Deferred tax (note 22)

-

-

-

76

5,548

5,624

2007
£'000 

2008
£'000Group
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The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the
weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entity as follows:

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 2.02% (2007: 0%). 

10 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

10.1 Non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

10.2 Current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Profit before tax

Tax calculated at domestic rates applicable to profit in
respective countries

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was recognised

Tax charge

151,843

-

-

-

194,043

3,918

1,706

5,624

2007
£'000 

2008
£'000

Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
- Unquoted equity securities
- Carbon Credit receivables
Total non-current financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

16,579 
176,290 

192,869 

23,032 
176,290 

199,322 

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

15,084
333,820

348,904

69,657
346,327

415,984

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Held for trading:
Quoted equity securities held for trading
Carbon credits - receivable
Derivatives
- OTC Put CO2 Options
Total held for trading

Total current financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss

1,891
-

-
1,891

1,891

1,956
-

-
1,956

1,956

2008
Restated

2007
Group
£'000

Company
£'000

2,263
50,632

-
52,895

52,895

2,263
50,632

18
52,913

52,913

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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The Company’s portfolio of delivered carbon credits were previously classified as and accounted for as
current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  In 2008 the Company’s has changed its
accounting policy for its portfolio of delivered carbon credits which are now classified and accounted for
as inventory at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with IAS2.  As a result current financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and inventory at fair value less costs to sell have been restated at 30 June
2007 by £6,639,000 for the Group and £6,614,000 in the Company.  Fair value gains of £4,017,000
previously recognised in the income statement within changes in fair value of financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss have been reclassified to change in inventory at fair value
less costs to sell.   

Reclassification has been performed to segregate the delivered carbon credits from the Group’s financial
assets.  The above reclassification has no impact on the Group’s or the Company’s net assets or profit for
the period.

10.3 Current financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

10.4 Non-current financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Held for trading:
Short ECX CO2 instruments
Short CCF CO2 instruments
Derivatives
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments

Total held for trading

Total current financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

(8,029)
(290)

-

(8,319)

(8,319)

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

(8,029)
(290)

(337)

(8,656)

(8,656)

Held for trading:
Derivatives
- OTC Put Options for VER instruments

Total held for trading

Total non-current financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss

-

-

-

-

-

-

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

-

-

-

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

(2,374)

(2,374)

(2,374)
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10.5 Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

11 Derivatives 

Up to 3 May 2007 the Group held derivatives instruments through its wholly owned subsidiary TEP
Trading 2 Limited. On 4 May 2007 TEP Trading 2 Limited's derivatives instruments were transferred to a
newly formed limited partnership, Chapel Street Environmental LP (the “LP”), a Delaware limited
partnership. In exchange for the transfer of its assets TEP Trading 2 Limited received a limited
partnership interest in the LP equivalent to the fair value of the assets and liabilities at the date of transfer
to the LP. The LP invests in both US over the counter and exchange traded emissions credits.  The LP is
now accounted for as an investment as the Group has no control of the partnership.

Up to 3 May 2007 TEP Trading 2 Limited's assets included futures and options.  As of 30 June 2008 the
Company has positions in futures and swaps contracts. 

(a) Futures

Futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell financial instruments on a future date at a specified
price established in a quoted market. The futures contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable
securities; changes in futures contracts' value are settled daily with the exchange.

The Group has entered into exchange traded CER and EUA futures contracts during the year for
settlement after 30 June 2008.

(b) Swap

In general the exchange of one asset or liability for a similar asset or liability for the purpose of
lengthening or shortening maturities, or raising or lowering coupon rates, to maximize revenue or
minimize financing costs. This may entail selling one securities issue and buying another in foreign
currency; it may entail buying a currency on the spot market and simultaneously selling it forward.
Swaps also may involve exchanging income flows; for example, exchanging the fixed rate coupon
stream of a bond for a variable rate payment stream, or vice versa, while not swapping the principal
component of the bond. Swaps are generally traded over-the-counter.  

During the year, the Group has entered swap contracts to buy EUAs and sell CERs for EU ETS
compliance.   

Realised gains 
Unrealised gains

1,433
169,196
170,629

574
217,698
218,272

Year ended
30 June 2007

Group
£'000

Year ended
30 June 2008

Group
£'000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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(c) Options

An option is a contractual arrangement under which the seller (writer) grants the purchaser (holder)
the right, but not the obligation, either to buy (a call option) or sell (a put option) at or by a specific
date or during a specific period, a specified amount of securities or a financial instrument at a
predetermined price. The seller receives a premium from the purchaser in consideration for the
assumption of the future securities price. 

The notional amounts of certain types of financial instruments provide a basis for comparison with
instruments recognised on the balance sheet, but they do not necessarily indicate the amounts of
future cash flows involved or the current fair value of the instruments and do not therefore indicate
the Group's exposure to credit or market price risks. The derivative instruments become favourable
(assets) or unfavourable (liabilities) as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates or foreign
exchange rates relative to their terms. The aggregate contractual or notional amount of derivative
financial instruments on hand, the extent to which instruments are favourable or unfavourable and,
thus the aggregate fair values of derivative financial assets and liabilities can fluctuate significantly
from time to time.

Current Derivatives Contracts Assets
- OTC EUA CER swap contracts

2008 2007

Contractual/
notional
amount

'000

Group
fair value

£'000

Contractual/
notional
amount

'000

Group
fair value

£'000

EUR 55,312 
55,312

1,720 
1,720

- 
- 

- 
- 

Current Derivatives Contracts Liabilities
- CCX CER Futures 
- ECX EUA Futures
- ECX CER Futures

2008 2007

Contractual/
notional
amount

'000

Group
fair value

£'000

Contractual/
notional
amount

'000

Group
fair value

£'000

USD 1,561
EUR 27,327
EUR 58,519

783
21,608
46,271
68,662

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
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12 Loans and receivables 

The Group and the Company have entered into the following loans. 

TEP Asia Limited

In 2006 and 2007 the Company entered into GBP loans with TEP Asia Limited in the aggregate amount
of £4,150,000. These loans are unsecured, interest free and are not expected to be repaid within 12 months
of the balance sheet date.

On 26 October 2006 the Company entered into a loan agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of
THB 32,500,000. The loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. TEP Asia Limited has lent
these funds to Swine Waste to Energy Co. Ltd (SWTE), a wholly owned subsidiary of Clean Energy Asia
Limited. The loan from TEP Asia Limited to SWTE has been registered with the Bank of Thailand and is
repayable quarterly following project commissioning. Interest is payable on the loan at a rate of  9% per
annum.

Non-current
Loans to subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings
TEP Asia Limited
Clean Energy Asia Limited
Billiter Energy Corporation
Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd.
Santa Rita Limited Partnership
Trading Emissions Limited

Other loans and receivables
Econergy Energy Generation Limited
Loan notes issued by Group companies
Philippine Bio-science Co Inc

Current
Loans to subsidiaries and subsidiary undertakings
Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd.

Other loans and receivables
Carbon Capital Markets Limited
Loan notes issued by Group companies
Silk Roads, Ltd.

Total loans and receivables

8,422 
-
-

567 
1,788

-

-
- 
- 

10,777

81

-
- 

299 
380 

11,157 

- 
-
-
- 
-
-

-
73

144 
217

-

-
30 

299 
329 

546 

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

10,900 
2,685

10,038
465

3,307
1,466

10,039
- 
- 

38,900

155

1,186
-
-

1,341

40,241

- 
-
-
- 
-
-

10,039
32 
20 

10,091

-

1,186
32

-
1,218

11,309

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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On 7 December 2006 the Company entered into a loan agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount
of THB 32,500,000. The loan is unsecured, interest free and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of
the balance sheet date.

On 3 January 2007 the Company entered into a loan agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount of
USD 3,087,780. The loan is unsecured, interest free and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the
balance sheet date.

On 6 June 2007 the Company entered into a loan agreement with TEP Asia Limited for an amount up to
USD 3,318,360. At 30 June 2008 the amount drawndown was USD3,153,013 (2007: USD3,153,013). The
loan is unsecured, interest free and not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
TEP Asia Limited lent these funds to Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation (HBC), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Clean Energy Asia Limited. The loan to HBC is secured by way of first charge over the
assets of HBC and interest is payable at an annual rate of 10%. The loan is repayable in 16 equal quarterly
instalments following the commissioning of HBC's electrical power plant.  

On 27 November 2006 the Company entered into a loan agreement with TEP Asia Limited in the amount
of PHP 13,373,380. The loan is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. TEP Asia Limited lent
these funds to Philippine Bio-Science Co Inc (“PhilBio”), a third party.  On 16 April 2008 the loan was
assigned to Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation.  The loan is unsecured and interest is payable at an
annual rate of 10%.  Philippine Bi-Energy owes accrued interest on this loan of £20,000.  The Company
expects this to be paid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Trading Emissions Limited

During the year ended 30 June 2008 the Company advanced funds to Trading Emissions Limited to
enable it to fulfil its obligations under certain ERPA contracts.  Amounts advanced are unsecured interest
free and are not expected to be repaid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

On 30 November 2005 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd
(“Kalasin”) in the amount of THB 36,500,000. The loan is secured and is to be repaid over an 8 year term
at 3.125% of the loan principal amount repayable quarterly. Under the terms of the loan agreement
interest shall accrue on the loan principal at a rate of 9% per annum.  On 30 June 2007 the terms of the
loan were amended such that all interest accrued on the loan as at 30 June 2007 was capitalised and the
balance outstanding is to be repaid over eight years in equal instalments. As security for the loan, Kalasin
has assigned its rights and obligations under relevant project agreements to the Company.

Santa Rita Limited Partnership

During the year the Company has advanced USD2,996,397 (2007: USD3,591,798) to Santa Rita Limited
Partnership (SRLP).  The total now advanced is USD6,588,195.  The loan is unsecured and interest free.
Under the terms of the agreement between the Company and SRLP, the Company has committed to
contribute up to USD26,000,000 to SRLP in order for SRLP to fund the construction costs in Electricidad
Andina SA, see note 29.



Trading Emissions PLC | Report & Accounts

Page | 60

Silk Roads, Ltd

In 2005 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Silk Roads, Ltd. in the amount of USD600,000.
The loan was unsecured and repayable on demand after 17 November 2007 and interest was payable at
an annual rate of 6%   The loan was repaid in full with interest in November 2007.

Clean Energy Asia Limited

During the year the Company has entered into three loan agreements in the amounts of USD3,475,305,
THB27,600,000 and €666,224.  These loans are unsecured, interest free and are not expected to be repaid
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Billiter Energy Corporation

On 25 July 2007 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Billiter Energy Corporation.  In total
the company has advanced USD20,000,000.  The loan is unsecured and interest free and is not expected
to be repaid within 12 months of the balance sheet date.

Carbon Capital Markets Limited

On 22 April 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Carbon Capital Markets Limited.  The
Company advanced €1,500,000.  The loan was unsecured, repayable on demand and interest was
charged at a rate of 20% p.a.  The loan was repaid in full together with interest due in July 2008.

Econergy Energy Generation Limited

On 14 May 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement with Econergy Energy Corporation Limited,
a subsidiary of Econergy International PLC.  The Company advanced USD20,000,000.  The loan was
secured and repayable on demand 18 months from the signing of the agreement and interest was charged
at a rate of LIBOR plus 5% per annum.  The loan was repaid in full together with interest due in 
August 2008.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Goodwill has been recognised on the acquisition of Environmental Credit Corporation, Korat Waste to
Energy Co. Ltd and Sun Biofuels Limited, (see note 33).  The amortisation charge during the year has been
included in other operating expenses.

13 Intangible assets

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Acquisitions (note 33)
Amortisation charge
Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2007
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Acquisitions (note 33)
Impairment (note 7)
Amortisation charge
Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2008
Cost
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

Goodwill
£'000

Group Project
developments

£'000
Total
£'000

-
(15)

-
228

-
213

213
-

213

213
1

1,590
2,186
(851)

-
3,139

3,139
-

3,139

-
(4)

147 
145
(6)

282

288
(6)

282

282
(4)
33

-
-

(14)
297

314
(17)
297

-
(19)
147
373
(6)

495

501
(6)

495

495
(3)

1,623
2,186
(851)
(14)

3,436

3,453
(17)

3,436
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14 Property, plant and equipment

At 1 July 2006
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2007
Opening net book amount
Exchange differences
Additions
Acquisitions (note 33)
Transfer of assets
Depreciation charge (note 8)
Closing net book amount

At 30 June 2007
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Year ended 30 June 2008
Opening net book value
Exchange differences
Additions
Acquisitions (note 33)
Transfer of assets
Depreciation charge (note 8)
At 30 June 2008

At 30 June 2008
Cost 
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Motor
vehicles

£'000

Group Furniture and
equipment

£'000
Total
£'000

10
(1)

9

9
-

32
-
-

(5)
36

42
(6)
36

36
(1)

163
99

- 
(135)

162

300
(138)

162

5
(1)

4

4
-

21
17

-
(12)

30

43
(13)

30

30
(1)

411
143
25

(20)
588

619
(31)
588

Biogas 
plant
£'000

Project under
construction

£'000

-
-
-

-
-
-
-

698
(21)
677

698
(21)
677

677
(175)

800
1,387
3,054
(531)
5,212

5,686
(474)
5,212

833
-

833

833
94

3,654
-

(698)
-

3,883

3,883
-

3,883

3,883
(42)

4,002
16

(3,079)
-

4,780

4,780
-

4,780

848
(2)

846

846
94

3,707
17

-
(38)

4,626

4,666
(40)

4,626

4,626
(219)
5,376
1,645

-
(686)

10,742

11,385
(643)

10,742

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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15 Investment in subsidiaries

Company

At 1 July 
Additions during the year
Impairments (note 7)
At 30 June 

6,106
3
-

6,109

6,109
41,688
(5,967)
41,830

2007
£'000

2008
£'000

Environmental Credit Corporation 

Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

Santa Rita Limited Partnership

Trading Emissions Limited

TEP Asia Limited

TEP Trading 1 Limited

TEP Trading 2 Limited

Sun Biofuels Limited

Trading Emissions (Hong Kong) Ltd

Billiter Participacoes Ltda

Billiter Energy Corporation

TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à r.l.

87.71%

100.00%

75.00%

97.33%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

58.37%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

77.32%

100.00%

75.00%

97.33%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

58.37%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Carbon credit creator & trader 

Investment holding company  

Development stage company 

Investment holding limited
partnership 

Investment holding company 

Investment holding company 

Dormant 

Investment holding company 

Development stage company

Dormant

Investment holding company

Investment holding company

Investment holding company

USA 

Isle of Man 

Thailand 

UK 

UK 

Isle of Man 

Isle of Man 

Isle of Man 

UK

Hong Kong

Brazil

USA

Luxembourg

%  voting
rights held 

% of
nominal

share capital  
Country of

incorporation Name of subsidiary undertaking 

During the year the Company incorporated Billiter Participacoes Ltda and TEP Holding Luxembourg
S.a.r.l. at a cost of £33,300,000 and £138,000 respectively.  In addition the Company made further
investments into Environmental Credit Corporation and Sun Biofuels Limited of £1,593,000 and
£1,010,000 respectively.  Additions during the year and impairments also include £5,647,000 and
£3,346,000 with respect to Sun Biofuels Limited which was previously designated a financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS28 (note 7).

Principal subsidiary undertakings

A summary of the Company's principal subsidiary undertakings at 30 June 2008, each of which is
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group is as follows:-
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Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited

On 11 October 2006 Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited was appointed the general partner of Santa
Rita Limited Partnership, a Scottish limited partnership (see below).

Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd.

On 30 November 2005, the Group acquired 75% of the share capital of Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd
(“Kalasin”), a company incorporated and domiciled in Thailand. Kalasin has commenced a project for a
specific anaerobic digester energy plant for the conversion of waste products into biogas, electricity and
by-products. Kalasin has been under construction during the Company's ownership and certain costs of
construction have been capitalised and are disclosed in the Group's balance sheet as “Property, plant and
equipment”. The Group has an additional 11.75% indirect interest in the share capital of Kalasin through
TEP Asia Limited's interest in Asia BioGas Co., Limited which owns the remaining 25% of Kalasin's share
capital not owned by the Company. TEP Asia Limited's investment in Asia BioGas Co., Limited is
classified in the balance sheet as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss. The Company has
also entered into a loan and facility agreement with Kalasin which includes the future purchase of 75%
of the CER's generated by Kalasin, see note 12. 

Santa Rita Limited Partnership

Santa Rita Limited Partnership (SRLP) was established by a limited partnership agreement dated 20
September 2006 (amended and restated 11 October 2006).  SRLP's principal place of business is
Edinburgh, Scotland and it is an investment vehicle through which the Group acquired 97.33% of the
issued share capital of Electricidad Andina S.A. (Andina), a company incorporated in Peru. Andina is
developing a hydro electric project in Santa Rita, Peru.  Trading Emissions (Isle of Man) Limited has been
appointed as the general partner of SRLP.  The Company made an initial investment to SRLP of USD
3,500,000 by way of USD35 capital and USD3,499,965 as a loan, see notes 12 and 29.1.

TEP Asia Limited

TEP Asia Limited is an investment holding company.  At 30 June 2008 TEP Asia Limited owns 47% of the
issued share capital of Asia BioGas Co., Ltd in Thailand and 99.31% of the issued and paid up share
capital of Clean Energy Asia Limited.  The Company has loans to TEP Asia Limited in the amount of
£4,150,000, THB 65,000,000, PHP13,373,380 and USD6,240,793, see note 12. 

TEP Trading 2 Limited

The Company was incorporated on 11 November 2005 in the Isle of Man. The share capital of the
Company is USD 10,000,100 comprising 100 ordinary shares of USD1 each and 10,000 redeemable
preference shares of USD 0.01 issued at a price of USD1,000 per share. Prior to 4 May 2007 TEP Trading
2 Limited used its funds to invest in a discretionary portfolio which traded in environmental instruments
including futures and options contracts in the United States of America. The portfolio was managed by
CK Environmental Capital Management LLC under the terms of an investment management agreement
dated 15 December 2005. The investment management agreement was terminated on 1 June 2007. 

On 4 May 2007 TEP Trading 2 Limited transferred its discretionary portfolio to a newly formed Delaware
limited partnership, Chapel Street Environmental LP (the “Partnership”), which is managed by CK
Environmental Capital Management LLC. In exchange the Company received a limited partnership
interest in the Partnership equivalent to the fair value of the assets in the discretionary portfolio at the

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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date of transfer. TEP Trading 2 Limited's interest in the Partnership is included in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Sun Biofuels Limited

On 24 September 2007 the Group acquired a further 23.69% of the issued share capital of Sun Biofuels
Limited taking its total holding to 58.37%.  Sun Biofuels Limited is a UK based biofuels company
operating predominantly in emerging markets.  

TEP Holding Luxembourg S.à r.l.

TEP Holding Luxembourg S.a.r.l is a holding company which owns the issued share capital of TEP
Investment Luxembourg S.a.r.l., an investment holding company.  On 5 February 2008 the Company
subscribed for 41,800 Preferred Equity Certificates issued by TEP Investment Luxembourg S.a.r.l. at a
price of €25 each, for a total of €1,045,000.  The Preferred Equity Certificates pay interest at a rate of 7.5%
per annum and are mandatorily redeemable on the 30th anniversary of issue.  TEP Investment
Luxembourg S.a.r.l used these funds to invest in 25% of the issued share capital of Ecotraders Limited.

Billiter Energy Corporation

Billiter Energy Corporation is an investment holding company incorporated in Delaware USA.  The
Company has issued unsecured, interest free, repayable on demand loans to Billiter Energy Corporation
of USD 20,000,000.  Billiter Energy Corporation has used these funds to purchase a partnership interest
in Inland Gas and Electric  L.P. a  limited partnership organised in Delaware USA to realise returns on
emissions reductions credits.

Billiter Participacoes Limitada

Billiter Participacoes Limitada is an investment holding company incorporated in Brazil.  The Company
has invested in a 25% share of Bionasa Combustivel Natural SA, a Brazilian biodiesel production
company.  At 30 June 2008, the production plant is under construction.

Group subsidiary undertakings

In addition to its investments in direct subsidiaries listed above, the Company has the following effective
interest in the following undertakings owned by its subsidiaries

Clean Energy Asia Limited

Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation

Swine Waste to Energy Co. Ltd

Electricidad Andina SA

Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation

CTY CP Biogas Tay Ninh

Korat Waste to Energy Co. Ltd

TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à r.l.

99.31%

99.31%

99.31%

97.33%

99.31%

99.31%

80.94%

100.00%

99.31%

99.31%

99.31%

97.33%

99.31%

99.31%

80.94%

100.00%

Investment holding company 

Development stage company 

Development stage company 

Development stage company 

Development stage company 

Development stage company 

Power generation company

Investment holding company

Isle of Man 

Philippines 

Thailand 

Peru 

Philippines

Vietnam

Thailand

Luxembourg

%  voting
rights held 

% of
nominal

share capital  
Country of

incorporation Name of subsidiary undertaking 
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Clean Energy Asia Limited, Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation and CTY CP Biogas Tay Ninh

During 2008 Clean Energy Asia Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Magallenes Bio-
Energy Corporation, a company based in the Philippines, and 100% of the issued share capital of CTY CP
Biogas Tay Ninh, a company based in Vietnam.

TEP Asia Limited and Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

During 2008 TEP Asia Limited acquired 80.94% of the issued share capital of Korat Waste to Energy 
Co., Ltd.

TEP Investment Luxembourg S.à r.l.

During 2008 the Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of TEP Investment Luxembourg Sa.r.l.
through its subsidiary TEP Holding Luxembourg S.a.r.l..

Clean Energy Asia Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation and Swine Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

During 2007 Clean Energy Asia Limited acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Hacienda Bio-
Energy Corporation a company based in the Philippines and 100% of the issued share capital of Swine
Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, a company based in Thailand.

Electricidad Andina SA

During 2007 the Group acquired Electricidad Andina SA through its subsidiary Santa Rita Limited
Partnership.

16 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following
balances with original maturity of less than 90 days:

The effective interest rate of short-term bank deposits at 30 June 2008 and 2007 was 5.52% and 5.60% per
annum, respectively. These deposits have an average maturity of 30 days.

Restricted cash

At 30 June 2008, short term bank deposits included £50,607,000 (2007: £49,722,000) of cash held in a
pledge guarantee account which is used specifically for the drawdown obligations under the World Bank
Umbrella Carbon Facility agreement, see note 28.

Cash at bank
Short-term bank deposits
Margin call accounts

680
261,470

-
262,150

5,149
261,470

-
266,619

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

74
127,580
11,503

139,157

5,414
129,722
11,503

146,639

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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The margin call account is specifically designated to cover the open derivative contracts the Company
has entered into.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the purposes of the cashflow statement:

The Company’s portfolio of delivered carbon credits were previously classified as and accounted for as
current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.  In 2008 the Company has changed its
accounting policy for its portfolio of delivered carbon credits which are now classified and accounted for
as inventory at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with IAS2, see note 10.

17 Trade and other receivables

Cash at bank
Short-term bank deposits

680
211,678
212,358

5,149
211,678
216,827

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

74
76,973
77,047

5,414
79,115
84,529

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Non-current
Accrued dividend income – subsidiaries
Accrued loan interest

Current
Accrued dividend income
Accrued bank and loan interest
Trade and other receivables – subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables
Prepayments

189
- 

189

2,239
493

-
643
43

3,418
3,607

- 
37
37

2,239
493

-
1,150

101
3,983
4,020

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

648
- 

648

3,439
1,148

394
17,863
3,417

26,261
26,909

- 
-
-

3,439
1,067

-
19,211
3,588

27,305
27,305

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

18 Inventories

Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) 6,614
6,614

6,639
6,639

2008
Group
£'000

Company
£'000

26,258
26,258

31,734
31,734

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Restated
2007
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19 Trade and other payables

Non-current
Accrued expenses
Amounts due to related parties
Trade and other payables

Current
Accrued expenses
Amounts due to related parties
Trade and other payables – subsidiaries
Trade and other payables

-
-
-
-

553
28,722

-
-

29,275

-
-

385
385

930
28,719

-
-

29,649

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

-
-
-
-

482
43,645

88
270

44,485

38
50
38

126

636
43,557

-
1,639

45,832

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

20 Borrowings

Non-current
Bank borrowings

Current
Bank borrowings

-

-

-

-

2008 2007

2008 2007

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

-

-

192

192

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

21 Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Legal fees
Sales contract

-
-
-

-
-
-

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

-
1,556
1,556

97
1,556
1,653

Group
£'000

Company
£'000

Bank borrowing consists of a loan THB 25,600,000 made to Korat Waste to Energy  Co., Ltd. At a rate of
6.75% per annum and has been used to purchase plant and machinery.  The loan is secured against the
purchased land and machinery and is repayable over 2 years.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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(a) Legal fees

The amount represents a provision for certain legal fees brought about by TEP Asia Limited’s
purchase of Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd. The provision charge is recognised in profit or loss within
“administrative expenses”. The balance at 30 June 2008 is expected to be utilised in the financial year
to 30 June 2009. In the directors’ opinion, after taking appropriate legal advice, the outcome of this
legal action will not give rise to any significant loss beyond the amount provided at 30 June 2008.

(b) Sales contract

The Company entered in to a contract to deliver CERs to the UK government at a price of £9.76.
These CERs have to be sourced from small scale projects approved by the government.  The Company
has entered into term sheets to buy these CERs at £14.43.  This will result in a loss on the contract
which has been provided for.  The balance at 30 June 2008 is expected to be utilised in the financial
year to 30 June 2009.

Deferred income tax has arisen as a result of both unrealised fair value gains recognised in the Group’s
overseas investments and subsidiaries and  withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of certain investments and subsidiaries.

22 Deferred income tax 

Deferred tax liabilities – Non-current
At 1 July 2007
Charged to income statement
At 30 June 2008

-
5,548
5,548

-
1,153
1,153

Unremitted
earnings

£'000
Total
£'000

-
4,395
4,395

Fair value
gains
£'000
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30 June 2008 

Assets as per the balance
sheet

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less
costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000

Group
Available 
for sale

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and
receivables

£'000

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£'000

-

11,309

27,305

-

146,639

185,253

468,897

-

-

31,734

-

500,631

468,897

11,309

27,305

31,734

146,639

685,884

Liabilities as per the balance sheet

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000

Other
financial
liabilities

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

384

11,030

11,414

Liabilities at
fair value

through profit
or loss
£'000

-

-

-

384

11,030

11,414

23 Financial instruments by category

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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30 June 2007 

Assets as per the balance
sheet

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less
costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000Group

Available 
for sale

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and
receivables

£'000

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£'000

-

546

4,020

-

266,619

271,185

201,278

-

-

6,639

-

207,917

201,278

546

4,020

6,639

266,619

479,102

Liabilities as per the balance sheet

Borrowings

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000

Other
financial
liabilities

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

385

-

385

Liabilities at
fair value

through profit
or loss
£'000

-

-

-

385

-

385
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30 June 2008 

Assets as per the balance
sheet

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less
costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000Company

Available 
for sale

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and
receivables

£'000

Assets at fair
value through
profit or loss

£'000

-

40,241

26,909

-

139,157

206,307

401,799

-

-

26,258

-

428,057

401,799

40,241

26,909

26,258

139,157

634,364

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Liabilities as per the balance sheet

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000

Other
financial
liabilities

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

Liabilities at
fair value

through profit
or loss
£'000

8,319

8,319

8,319

8,319

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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30 June 2007

Assets as per the balance
sheet

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

Inventory at fair value less
costs to sell

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000Company

Available 
for sale

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Loans and
receivables

£'000

Liabilities at
fair value

through profit
or loss £'000

-

11,157

3,607

-

262,150

276,914

194,760

-

-

6,614

-

201,374

194,760

11,157

3,607

6,614

262,150

478,288

Liabilities as per the balance sheet

Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss

Total

Derivatives
used for
hedging

£'000

Other
financial
liabilities

£'000
Total
£'000

-

-

-

-

Asset at 
fair value

through profit
or loss
£'000

-

-

-

-
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24.1 Net asset value per share

Ordinary shares
Net assets attributable to Ordinary shareholders (£'000)
Ordinary shares in issue (number ‘000)
Net assets value per Ordinary share (in pence)

C share
Net assets attributable to C shares (£'000)
C shares in issue (number ‘000)
Net assets value per C share (in pence)

220,515
135,000
163.34p

233,523
175,000
133.44p

634,646
279,967
226.69p

-
-
-

At
30 June 2007

At
30 June 2008

Ordinary shares
Profit attributable to equity holders of the Ordinary shares (£’000)
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares in issue (number ‘000)
Basic earnings per Ordinary share (in pence)

C shares
Profit attributable to equity holders of the C shares (£’000)
Weighted average number of C shares in issue (number ‘000) 
Basic earnings per C share (in pence)

88,613
135,000
65.64p

63,263
175,000
36.15p

160,114
227,801
70.29p

28,866
175,000
16.49p

Year ended
30 June 2007

Year ended
30 June 2008

24.2 Earnings per share

(a) Basic

The basic earnings per Ordinary share and C share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to Ordinary shareholders and the profit attributable to the C shareholders by the weighted average
number of Ordinary shares and C shares in issue during the year.

On 13 November 2007, the Company's C shares were converted to Ordinary shares at a ratio of one C
Share to 0.8683 Ordinary shares.  The resulting number of Ordinary shares was 286,952,700 after the
conversion.  During the process, 23,047,500 Deferred Shares were created and subsequently redeemed by
the Company at £0.01 each to share premium during the year in accordance with the Company's Articles
of Association.

The net proceeds received from the Company's Ordinary share issue and C share issue were accounted
for as two separate pools of funds up to the date of conversion.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

24 Net asset value per share and earnings per share

The net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to the Ordinary shares and
the C shares by the number of Ordinary shares and C shares in issue respectively at 30 June 2008 and 2007.
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(b) Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of Ordinary
shares and C shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential Ordinary shares and
C shares. The Company does not have any dilutive potential Ordinary shares or C shares and
therefore diluted earnings per ordinary share and diluted earnings per C share are the same as the
basic earnings per Ordinary share and C share.

25 Share capital

The total number of authorised and issued Ordinary shares and C shares of the Company at 30 June 2008
and  2007 together with their rights are explained below.

All issued shares are fully paid, and each share carries the right to one vote. The C shares have the same
rights as the ordinary shares.

Reconciliation of share capital

Authorised

Ordinary shares of £0.01 par value

C shares of £0.01 par value

Issued and fully paid

Ordinary shares of £0.01 par value

C shares of £0.01 par value

£'000 (Number '000)

20072008

£'000

4,600

-

4,600

2,800

-

2,800

200,000

260,000

460,000

135,000

175,000

310,000

(Number '000)

460,000

-

460,000

279,968

-

279,968

2,000

2,600

4,600

1,350

1,750

3,100

At 1 July 2006

At 30 June 2007

Share conversion

Redemption of deferred shares

Purchase of own shares

At 30 June 2008

C shares
£’000

Deferred
Shares
£’000

Total
£’000

1,750

1,750

(1,750)

-

-

-

-

-

230

(230)

-

-

Ordinary
Shares
£’000

1,350

1,350

1,520

-

(70)

2,800

3,100

3,100

-

(230)

(70)

2,800



On 13 November 2007, the Company's C shares were converted to Ordinary shares at a ratio of one C
Share to 0.8683 Ordinary shares.  The resulting number of Ordinary shares in issue was 286,952,700 after
the conversion.  In accordance with the terms of the conversion 23,047,500 Deferred redeemable shares
were created and subsequently redeemed by the Company at £0.01 per each Deferred redeemable share
which resulted in a charge of £230,000 to share premium in accordance with the Company's Articles of
Association.

In January 2008 the Company purchased and cancelled 6,985,000 of its Ordinary shares at an aggregate
cost of £9,967,000.

26 Share premium

The Company's share premium has arisen on the issue of the Company's Ordinary shares and C shares
and represents the difference between the issue price of £1.00 per Ordinary share and C share and the par
value of £0.01 per Ordinary share and C share.  Amounts recorded are net of issuance costs.

On conversion of the Company's C shares to Ordinary shares in November 2007, 23,047,500 Deferred
redeemable shares were created and these were subsequently redeemed by the Company at £0.01 each,
for a total of £230,475, which has been credited to share premium.

27 Reserves

The following describes the nature and purpose of each reserve within shareholders' equity.

Reserve Description and purpose

Share premium Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value, less share
issue costs.

Retained earnings Cumulative net realised and unrealised gains and losses recognised in the
consolidated and company income statements.

Capital redemption This reserve represents the nominal amount of the Company’s own shares that
have been purchased for cancellation.  The amounts included in this reserve
represent transfers from the Company’s retained earnings.

Translation reserve Unrealised gains and losses arising on retranslating the net assets of overseas
operations into the Company’s functional currency.

28 Contingencies

The Company participated in the first Tranche of the Umbrella Carbon Facility managed by the World
Bank in December 2005 to acquire CERs up to December 2013. The Company had arranged a fully
pledged bank guarantee in favour of the World Bank to secure the transaction in August 2006 in the
amount of €68,110,000. The bank guarantee commitment at 30 June 2008 was €62,560,000  (2007:
€66,735,000) and was reduced to €58,884,000 in July 2008.  The Company has £50,607,000  (2007:
£49,792,000) of restricted cash (see note 16) held in respect of this pledged bank guarantee.  The Directors
do not expect any losses to arise from the guarantee the Company has entered into.
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29 Commitments

29.1 Investment commitment

(a) Silk Roads Limited, TEP Asia Limited, and Asia Biogas Company Limited

The Company entered into a project development agreement with Silk Roads Limited and its
associates on 31 March 2006. As part of the transaction the Company committed to provide finance
up to USD 60 million to Asia BioGas Company Limited to develop renewable energy projects in Asia.
To facilitate the investment, the Company has and will grant loans to TEP Asia Limited and its
underlying investments. At 30 June 2008 the Company had invested USD14.5 million (2007: USD8.6
million) in projects by way of equity and loans. The remaining commitment at 30 June 2008 is
USD45.5 million (2007: USD51.4 million).

(b) Santa Rita Limited Partnership

The Company entered into a project development agreement with Santa Rita Limited Partnership on
11 October 2006.  Under the terms of the agreement Santa Rita Limited Partnership has committed to
provide financing of the capital costs of Electricidad Andina SA in the expected amount of USD232
million.  It is anticipated that the Company will contribute up to USD26 million of this amount.  At
30 June 2008 USD6.6 million  (2007: USD3.6 million) of financing has been provided by the Company,
see note 12.

(c) Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation

TEP Asia Limited has provided a loan facility of USD3,319,000 to Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation
(HBC) at an interest rate of 10% p.a. repayable in 16 equal quarterly instalments following the
respective project commissioning. At 30 June 2008 95% of this facility was drawndown leaving
USD166,000 still to be drawn.

On 11 June 2008 TEP Asia Limited entered in to another loan agreement with HBC for a total of
USD1,077,000 at an interest rate of 10% p.a. repayable over 16 equal quarterly instalments.  At 30 June
2008 there was no drawdown from this facility.

(d) Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation

In 2008 the Company’s subsidiary TEP Asia Limited has granted Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation
(MBC) a USD5 million credit facility valid up to 31 December 2012.  This credit facility will only be
drawn down when a project is presented for investment.  At 30 June 2008 no amounts had been
drawndown under this facility.

(e) EcoTraders Limited

In 2008 the Company’s subsidiary TEP Investment S.a.r.l. granted EcoTraders Limited a €1,500,000
credit facility valid up to 31 March 2013.  This credit facility is for the purpose of working capital and
business development costs.  As of 30 June 2008 no drawdown has been made against this facility.

(f) Bionasa Combustive Natural – Brazil

In July 2007 the Company acquired 25% of the issue share capital of Bionasa Combustive Natural
Ltda at a cost of R$125million (approximately £33 million).  The investment is to be made over 18
months.  As at 30 June 2008 R$107million (approximately £30 million) has been paid.
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29.2 Contractual commitments

The Group has entered into a number of long term ERPAs to purchase Carbon Credits (CCs) produced
from various projects. As of 30 June 2008, the maximum quantity contracted for by the Group amounted
to 81.0 million CCs (2007: 55.3 million CCs).

Details of the Group's CC risk adjusted commitments, which are payable in Euros and USD at 30 June
2008 and 2007 are as follows:

Sales contracts

The Company has entered into a sale and option agreement with the UK government for 305,000 CERs
at a price of £9.76 per CER.  The current acquisition price of these CERs is higher than the sales price
leading to an unrealised loss of approximately £5.10 per CER.  The Company has made a provision of
£1,556,000 to cover these losses, see note 21.

30 Directors' interests

The following Directors had interests in the shares of the Company:

None of the other Directors had any interest in the shares of the Company at any time during the years
ended 30 June 2008 and 30 June 2007.  

31 Related-party transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or to exercise
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

The following have been identified as related parties:

Within one year
Two to five years
More than five years
Total

11,550
127,359
39,315

178,224

19,549
202,840
46,922

269,311

2007
£'000

2008
£'000

N D Eckert

M J Gillies

Ordinary
shares

Number
(‘000)

C shares
Number 

('000)

20072008

Ordinary
shares

Number
(‘000)

1,773 

22 

1,000 

25 

C shares
Number 

('000)

-

-

750 

- 

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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31.1 Investment Adviser

The Company's Investment Adviser is EEA Fund Management Limited, an investment management
company incorporated in the United Kingdom. The Investment Adviser receives an advisory and
performance fee under the terms of the investment advisory agreement. A summary of the terms of the
agreement together with the amount of fees paid in the years ended 30 June 2008 and 2007 and the
amounts due to the investment Adviser at 30 June 2008 and 2007 is included in note 5.

Certain employees of the Investment Adviser hold director positions on a number of the Group's
subsidiaries and equity investments as follows:

Simon Shaw is a director of Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, Sun Biofuels Limited, Korat Waste to
Energy Co., Ltd,  Carbon Capital Markets Limited, Asia BioGas Co., Limited, Swine Waste to Energy Co.
Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation, Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation.

Justin Guest is a director of TEP Asia Limited, Clean Energy Asia Limited, Kalasin Waste to Energy Co.,
Ltd, Sun Biofuels Limited, Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd and Asia BioGas Co., Limited, Swine Waste to
Energy Co. Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation, Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation.

Des Godson is a director of Kalasin Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd, Swine
Waste to Energy Co. Limited, Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation, Magallanes Bio-Energy Corporation
and Trading Emissions (Hong Kong) Limited.

Ricardo Nogueira is a director of Environmental Credit Corporation.

31.2 Directors

The Directors of the Company have received fees as set out in note 6. Directors' interests in the Ordinary
shares and C shares of the Company are set out in note 30.

Neil Eckert, the Chairman of the Company also served as Chairman of Econergy International PLC, the
holding company of Econergy International Corporation, until his resignation from this position on 30
September 2008. The Company holds ordinary shares in Econergy International PLC with a fair value of
£2,264,000 at 30 June 2008 (2007: £1,891,000). In September 2005 the Company entered into an agreement
with Econergy International Corporation whereby the Company provided Econergy International
Corporation with a USD4 million loan repayable in CERs.  The fair value at 30 June 2008 of CERs
delivered to the Company under the terms of this loan in 2008 was £597,000 (2007: £218,000). The fair
value of CERs due to the Company to repay the outstanding balance on the loan agreement was
£12,708,000 at 30 June 2008 (2007: £7,474,000).  In  May 2008 the Company entered into a loan agreement
with Econergy Energy Generation Limited, a subsidiary of Econergy International Corporation for
USD20 million.  The loan was secured and repayable 18 months from the date of advance.  Under the
terms of the loan agreement interest was accruing on the loan at a rate per annum equal to LIBOR + 6%
of the outstanding amount and interest was repayable at the same time as repayment (in whole or in part)
of the loan.  The loan was repaid in full.

Neil Eckert is also a director of Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC). ECC became a subsidiary of the
Company following the Company's acquisition in June 2007 of ECC’s Series B Preferred Stock, and an
increase in its ordinary shareholding of ECC after a successful tender offer to buy all non ECC employee
held stock, see note 15.  ECC’s Series B preferred stock carry the same voting rights as ECC’s ordinary
shares and at 30 June 2008 the Company held 88% (2007: 57.35%) of the voting rights in ECC. 
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Philip Scales and Robin Bigland, both directors of the Company during the year are also directors of
IOMAFIM with whom Chamberlain, the Company’s administrator has entered into a sub administration
agreement.  See note 5.  During the year ended 30 June 2008 and for the period 19 April 2007 to 30 June
2007. Sub-administration fees amounting to £348,667 (2007: £64,499) were payable to the sub-
administrator during the year. Philip Scales, Nigel Wood and Robin Bigland have an ownership interest
in the sub-administrator.

The Company has inter-company loans with its subsidiaries and details can be found in note 12.  

32 Segment reporting

(a) Business segments

The Group operates a single business segment which invests in interests in a portfolio of
environmental ventures.

(b) Geographic segments

The Group's business is conducted globally.  The Group's assets at 30 June 2008 and 2007 are reported
by continent. 

North America

South America

Africa

Asia

Europe

Income
£'000

Total
assets
£'000

2008

Capital 
expenditure

£'000

3,072

5,800

3,360

230,226

12,427

254,885

23,864

70,772

846

431,899

172,681

700,062

286

1,534

314

3,242

-

5,376

North America

South America

Africa

Asia

Europe

Income
£'000

Total
assets
£'000

2007

Capital 
expenditure

£'000

900

14,002

(3,346)

158,196

19,994

189,746

8,234

15,854

2,301

170,582

287,262

484,233

-

1,471

-

2,477

-

3,948

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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In presenting the information on the basis of geographical segments, segment total assets are based on
the geographical location of the assets and segmental income is based on the geographical location from
which that income is derived.

33 Business combinations

The fair value of the assets and liabilities acquired by the Group during the year approximated their book
value at the date of their acquisition and were as follows:-

Korat Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

On 26 July 2007, the Company completed the acquisition of 81% of the issued share capital of Korat Waste
to Energy Co., Ltd, a large biogas / energy generating asset in Thailand, for USD5,002,000.  The project
has been operating for a number of years and was registered by the UN Executive Board.  The project is
expected to generate 300,000 CCs per annum and is currently undergoing verification for delivery of
several years' volume of CCs.  

The acquired business contributed revenues of £1,133,000 and a net profit of £420,000 to the Group from
26 July 2007 to 30 June 2008.  If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2007 there would be no increase in
Group revenues and net profit  would decrease by £1,000.

* Purchase consideration for Sun Biofuels Limited includes £5,648,000 paid by the Company for its initial 34.68% shareholding 
(note 7).

Property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Non current assets

Current liabilities

Non current liabilities

Fair value of net assets acquired

Loss on acquisition recognised directly in
equity

Impairment (note 7)

Goodwill (note 13)

Total purchase consideration*

Korat Waste
to Energy Co

Ltd
£'000

Sun Biofuels
Limited

£'000

2008

Total
£'000

1,409

169

-

158

(178)

(339)

1,219

-

-

1,243

2,462

236

1,403

99

-

(232)

-

1,506

1,952

2,257

943

6,658

1,645

1,572

99

158

(410)

(339)

2,725

1,952

2,257

2,186

9,120
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Sun Biofuels Limited

On 24 September 2007, the Company purchased the founder shares of Sun Biofuels Limited (“Sun
Biofuels”) constituting 23.69% of Sun Biofuels share capital. On completion of the purchase the Company
owned 58.37% of the ordinary share capital of Sun Biofuels.  The terms of the purchase consisted of an
upfront payment of USD1.10 per ordinary share payable by the Company and the issue of one deferred
share by Sun Biofuels.  The deferred shareholder is entitled to be paid USD0.40 per share upon certain
exit events such as an IPO or refinancing of at least USD1.50 per share.   The deferred shares have no other
rights.  

Prior to 24 September 2007 the Company accounted for its 34.68% shareholding in Sun Biofuels as an
investment at fair value through profit and loss in accordance with IAS28.  In accordance with IFRS 3
upon acquisition the fair value losses of £3,346,000 previously recognised in “Changes in fair value of
financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” were reversed and an impairment
charge of £2,257,000 and £3,346,000 was recognised in the Company’s and Group’s  income statement.
The Company's share of Sun Biofuels shareholders deficit at 24 September 2007 of £1,952,000 has been
recognised directly in reserves.

The acquired business contributed revenues of £13,000 and a net loss of £1,249,000 to the Group from 24
September 2007 to 30 June 2008.  If the acquisition had taken place on 1 July 2007 there would have been
no increase in Group revenues and net profit would decrease by £360,000.

* Non-current liabilities in Environmental Credit Corporation (ECC) at the date of acquisition represent ECC’s Series A Preferred
Stock held by the Company.  Accordingly this liability eliminates on consolidation in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

** Purchase consideration includes shares in subsidiary Clean Energy Asia Limited with a fair value of £15,000 issued to minority
interest in connection with the acquisition of Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation and Swine Waste to Energy Co. Ltd.

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment

Cash and cash equivalents

Other current assets

Non current assets

Current liabilities

Non current liabilities

Fair value of net
assets/(liabilities) acquired

Losses on acquisition recognised
directly in equity

Goodwill (note 13) 

Total purchase consideration**

Hacienda Bio-
Energy Corp

£'000

Swine Waste to
Energy Co., Ltd

£'000

Electricidad
Andina SA

£'000

Environmental
Credit Corp

£'000

2007

Total
£'000

-

-

-

11

-

-

-

11

-

-

11

145

-

12

72

-

(22)

(385)

(178)

-

228

50

-

17

-

52

73

(95)

(1,555)*

(1,508)

1,508

-

-

-

-

-

4

-

-

-

4

-

-

4

145

17

12

139

73

(117)

(1,940)

(1,671)

1,508

228

65

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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Environmental Credit Corporation

On 11 June 2007 the Company acquired 100% of the Series B Preferred Stock of Environmental Credit
Corporation (ECC).  ECC is a leading aggregator of carbon and environmental credits in the United
States.  ECC operates in four carbon credit business areas: agriculture, solid & liquid waste water,
renewable energy and “other” emerging technologies. Within these business areas, ECC offers several
services to project hosts including VER development advice, project registration and brokerage services.

The purchase of ECC’s Series B Preferred Stock which carry the right to one vote, together with the
Company's existing 42.05% interest in ECC's ordinary shares, gave the Company control of 57.35% of
ECC's voting rights. Consequently ECC has been accounted for as a subsidiary and its results have been
consolidated. In accordance with IFRS 3, fair value gains recognised on the Company's original
investment in ECC up to 11 June 2007 have been reversed through the Company's income statement and
ECC's shareholders' deficit of £1,508,000 at 11 June 2007 has been recognised directly in reserves. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of £nil and a net loss of £105,000 to the Group from 11 June
2007 to 30 June 2007.  If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2006, reported revenue would have
included an additional £22,000 and net profit would have decreased by £741,000. 

Electricidad Andina SA

On 11 October 2006 the Group acquired 97.33% of the issued share capital in Electricidad Andina SA
(“Andina”) for USD100,000. At the date of acquisition the fair value of Andina's net liabilities was
£178,000 and as a consequence goodwill of £228,000 was recognised. Andina is developing a run-of-river
hydro project in Peru and goodwill at the date of acquisition represents investigation works, basic
engineering and tender documentation work performed to date. The goodwill is attributable to the
acquired company's asset quality and the Group's ability to add further value to the Andina’s assets. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of £nil and a net loss of £88,000 to the Group from 11 October
2006 to 30 June 2007.  If the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2006 there would be no increase in change
in reported revenues and, net profit would have decreased by £35,000. 

Under the terms of purchase agreement the Company has entered into a put option with the founder
shareholders of Andina.  Under the terms of the put option, upon exercise, the Company will pay
USD1,975,000 to the founder shareholders in return for their shareholding in the minority interest being
cancelled.  Upon cancellation, the minority interest investment in Andina, via the Santa Rita Limited
Partnership will also be adjusted by USD 1,975,000.  The put option may be exercised by the founder
shareholders at any date following the arrangement of  Andina’s additional credit facilities of USD
174,000,000. The put option is only exercisable after the project is fully financed.

Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation 

On 4 January 2007 the Group's subsidiary Clean Energy Asia Limited (CEAL) acquired 100% of the issued
share capital of Hacienda Bio-Energy Corporation (HBC).  HBC is a farm-based biogas utility company.
At the date of acquisition the fair value of HBC’s net assets was £11,000 which was equal to the fair value
of the consideration paid by CEAL which consisted of CEAL ordinary shares. As a result there was no
goodwill at the date of acquisition. 

The acquired business contributed revenues of £nil and a net loss of £26,000 to the Group from 4 January
2007 (date of acquisition) to 30 June 2007. There would be no change in reported revenues or net profit in
the year ended 30 June 2007 if the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2006. 
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Swine Waste to Energy Co., Ltd

On 7 December 2006 the Group's subsidiary CEAL acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Swine
Waste to Energy Co., Ltd (SWTE).  At the date of acquisition the fair value of SWTE's net assets was £4,000
which was equal to the fair value of the consideration paid by CEAL which consisted of CEAL ordinary
shares.  As a result there was no goodwill at the date of acquisition.  SWTE is involved in the construction
and operation of piggery biogas energy projects in Thailand and has a number of piggery biogas energy
projects under current development.  

The acquired business contributed revenues of £nil and a net loss of £18,000 to the Group from 7
December 2006 to 30 June 2007.  There would be no change in reported revenues or net profit in the year
ended 30 June 2007 if the acquisition had occurred on 1 July 2006.

34 Post balance sheet events

Sun Biofuels Limited

Sun Biofuels Limited made a rights issue offer of up to 50,000,000 ordinary shares at USD0.01 each.  At
the close of the offer on 28 July 2008, only one acceptance of the offer (from Trading Emissions PLC) was
received.  The Company will therefore be issued the whole allocation of 50,000,000 ordinary shares under
the offer at USD0.01 each.  This will bring the Company’s holding in Sun Biofuels Limited to 94%.

Econergy International PLC

On 13 June 2008, Suez Energy South America Participacoes Ltda. (SESA) announced a cash offer of £0.45
per Econergy International PLC (Econergy) share, to be made by SESA or a subsidiary of SESA, for
Econergy.  The Company has accepted SESA’s offer.  The fair value of Econergy’s shares at 30 June 2008
was £0.45 per share.  On 29 July 2008, SESA announced that the offer had become unconditional as to
acceptances.

Investment Adviser

Under the terms of the Investment Advisory Agreement between EEA and the Company, EEA is entitled
to a £40,487,000 performance fee payable in cash for the year ended June 2008. EEA and the Company
have agreed on revised payment terms for the 2008 fee under which EEA will receive the fee in five
instalments. The first instalment of £8,097,000 shall be payable in cash on 16 October 2008, and 50% of
this amount will be used by EEA to purchase the Company’s shares in the market. In September each year
thereafter from 2009 to 2012, EEA will receive £4,049,000 cash and be issued with £4,049,000 of the
Company’s shares at 175p per share.  Shares issued to EEA under this arrangement will be subject to a 12
month lock-up from the date of issue.

Notes to the financial statements (continued)
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